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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 
These Financial Statements comprise the consolidated results of the University and its wholly owned subsidiary companies. The 
University undertakes certain activities, which for greater management focus and commercial reasons are better channelled through 
subsidiary companies.  To achieve tax efficiency each year the subsidiary companies gift aid any taxable profits to the University.  
 
 
Results for the Year 
 
The University made a consolidated surplus of £4,126k for the 2010/11 financial year.  The consolidated income and expenditure 
results for the year to 31 July 2011, together with the 2009/10 comparisons, are summarised below 
 
                                          2010/11              2009/10 
    
  £'000    £'000 
                                     
Income  115,415    114,157 
Release from revaluation reserve                   786        820                            
                 
                            116,201 114,977 
 
Expenditure                                        (111,871)               (112,315) 
 
Share of operating loss in joint venture                                               (242)                           (0) 
 
Deferred taxation in subsidiary companies                                                 (12)                           (0) 
 
Net transfer from endowment funds                                                              50                           45 
    
Surplus for the year before exceptional items                             4,126  2,707      
 
Exceptional items                                                                                                                            0                          959 
 
Historical cost surplus for the year after exceptional items                                              4,126                       3,666 
 
 
 

Review of the 2010/11 results and future forecasts and performance of the University  
 
The surplus for 2010/11 represents an excellent result which builds on the strong financial performance of the previous year.  In 
particular, the result reflects the continued growth in student numbers, particularly in overseas students, and the consequent increased 
fee income and the concerted effort across the University to reduce the staff cost base.  Whilst the surplus of £4,126k is very 
encouraging, the University has small accumulated income and expenditure reserves and needs to ensure that it is in a position to 
continue to deliver surpluses of this scale in the medium-term.  This is against a background of considerable uncertainty in the Higher 
Education sector and of further substantial cuts in public sector funding. 
 
 
Student Recruitment 
 
Student recruitment has been strong in both 2009/10 and 2010/11 and the University continues to progress initiatives to ensure that 
this trend continues.  The University views the provision of the highest quality student experience to a diverse student body as being 
key to improving recruitment and retention and this is a major aim of the 2010–15 Strategic Plan.  At a time that Keele is expanding its 
numbers of international students, as well as consolidating its home undergraduate numbers, it is felt important to review and improve 
the overall experience Keele offers to a diverse range of students whilst providing them with the best opportunity of progressing once 
they have completed their studies at Keele.  To this end, during 2010/11, student support services were reviewed and strengthened, 
the Keele Graduate Attributes programme was launched and the Distinctive Keele Curriculum project was developed.  These latter two 
initiatives will help Keele students to become well rounded, distinctive graduates who are capable of making a positive and valued 
contribution in a complex and rapidly changing world, whichever spheres of life they engage in after their studies are completed. 
 
Home undergraduate intake continues to be subject to a cap by HEFCE and so provides limited options for growth over the medium-
term.  However the University continues to work hard at attracting high performing undergraduate students from a range of diverse 
backgrounds in order to consolidate its position in the market.  The increase in home undergraduate applications to Keele continues to 
exceed the national average and for the 2011/12 entry there were an average of approximately 9 applicants for each place. 
 
Traditionally Keele has had relatively low numbers of international students and various steps have been taken over the last 2 years to 
rectify this position including establishing strategic alliances with other institutions and overseas universities.  The benefits from these 
initiatives are now being realised.  International undergraduate intake increased by 38% in 2009/10 and then by a further 44% in 
2010/11.  This trend looks set to continue as recruitment for 2011/12 is again expected to increase by over 40%.  This means that the 
overall international undergraduate population at Keele by 2011/12 will have increased by a factor of more than 2.5 compared with 
2008/09.  At the same time the international postgraduate population at Keele is also increasing significantly and for 2010/11 the total 
number of overseas students at more than 900 represented 11% of the student population, expected to increase to more than 1,200, or  
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14% of the total student population, in 2011/12.  The University is therefore confident of achieving its objective of international student 
intake reaching 15% of total student intake by 2014/15.   
 
The newly established Keele Management School proved successful in 2009/10 with significantly improved recruitment compared with 
the previous year.  Overall recruitment to the School increased still further in 2010/11 with the number of overseas undergraduate 
students almost doubling.  The pace at which this new Management School is able to develop is being significantly assisted by the 
receipt of £1.5m revenue funding from HEFCE.  This was part of a total Strategic Development Fund grant of £5.7m over the three 
years 2009/10 to 2011/12. 
 
Another area to benefit from the Strategic Development Fund is environmental sustainability.  £3.5m of revenue and capital funds is 
being received to develop the Keele Sustainability Hub Building to demonstrate sustainable energy technologies.  This building was 
completed in autumn 2011 and will enhance Keele’s own teaching and research, with the development of new courses at both 
undergraduate and postgraduate level, as well as providing a demonstrator for other institutions and businesses.   
 
 
Staff Costs 
 
The University has traditionally had high staff costs as a proportion of income compared with the sector.  It was recognised that in order 
to be able to deliver the required level of surpluses and to position itself for the future, including investing in some developing areas 
such as the Keele Management School, Keele needed to substantially reduce its existing staff cost base. During 2009/10 the University 
committed to identifying pay savings of at least £6.5m by 31 July 2012.  It is pleasing to report that recurrent savings of £6.5m have 
now been identified.  Many of the savings were achieved during 2010/11 with the result that pay costs as a percentage of income have 
reduced from 68% in 2008/09 to below 59% for 2010/11. By the 2011/12 financial year, £5m of the targeted staff savings will have 
been realised with the balance of £1.5m being realised over the following 2 financial years.  Although it has been a challenging 
exercise it is pleasing to report that these savings have been achieved without recourse to compulsory redundancy but through early 
retirement, voluntary severance and the removal of vacant posts.  For the future the University will continue to monitor its staff costs 
closely and will address any identified areas of over-staffing. 
 
 
Changes to Governance and Management 
 
The new Vice-Chancellor, Professor Nick Foskett, commenced in post on 1 August 2010.  During the year the Vice-Chancellor 
streamlined the executive committee structure in order to improve accountability, increase the transparency of executive decision 
making, improve communication and make the best use of senior staff time. He also implemented changes to the University 
Administration which were designed to increase the University’s focus on marketing and recruitment and to make the administrative 
processes as effective and efficient as possible.  These changes underpin the University’s aims of growing its income and of managing 
its resources effectively to ensure financial sustainability.  A new Marketing and Communications Directorate was established and a 
new Director appointed to lead it.  The Directorate has been leading a major review of Keele’s position in the market and of its brand.  
This review has recently culminated in the launch of a new brand identity and the commencement of an exciting advertising campaign.  
Some previously disparate administrative functions have now been amalgamated and streamlined under the Directorate of Planning 
and Academic Administration.  This Directorate will work with colleagues across the University to review and improve administrative 
processes. 
 
 
Strategic Planning 
 
As a result of the arrival of a new Vice-Chancellor and because of the rapidly changing external environment it was felt appropriate to 
review the University’s 2010-15 Strategic Plan.  The review was not intended to produce major changes to the Strategic Plan nor to the 
broad direction of travel previously agreed by Council.  The revisions focus on clarification of the key themes, deletion of objectives 
already achieved and modifications to reflect the new Higher Education environment.  The Strategic Plan is in the form of a strategic 
map which outlines the vision, mission and values of the University together with the key strategic aims and objectives.  This is 
underpinned by a more detailed operating plan.  Council approved the revised plan in June 2011.  During the early part of 2011/12 
Faculties, Schools, Research Institutes and Directorates will develop local strategic plans which will ensure delivery of the University 
Strategic Plan and which will be embedded with the budget-setting process.  
 
For the medium-term the University, like all other higher education sector institutions, faces significant cuts in public sector funding.  
Against this background it is essential that the University continues to keep its cost base under review and to realise substantial 
savings, whilst at the same time maintaining and developing its teaching and research activities. The University has made a surplus of 
£4,126k in 2010/11 and is committed to making surpluses in the following years despite the inevitable cuts in grant income.  This is 
necessary both to fund capital loan repayments and desirable non-HEFCE funded capital schemes and also to build-up the University’s 
discretionary reserves.  
 

Capital Projects 
 
The University and subsidiaries invested a total of £9.9m in capital expenditure projects during 2010/11.   
 
The £11.6m capital monies provided by HEFCE for the period April 2008 to March 2011 were fully utilised with the remaining £1.5m 
being spent during 2010/11.  The funds were used to improve teaching and research buildings and facilities across campus  including: 
the provision of an additional multi user wet laboratory, uniquely designed and developed to a standard of BREEAM-excellent,  at the 
centre of campus to be used by the Faculties of Health and Natural Sciences; the renovation of the Hornbeam Building in order to  
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provide improved teaching and administrative areas for the School of Pharmacy; major refurbishments to the Dorothy Hodgkin Building 
to provide new and improved pool rooms for teaching and to address serious maintenance issues. 
 
Keele University Science and Business Park Ltd has now completed the Keele Sustainability Hub Building.  This was partly funded 
from HEFCE Strategic Development Funds (SDF) and involved the major refurbishment of an old farmhouse building at the entrance to  
the campus as a flagship building (see later section on Subsidiary Companies).  Further SDF capital grant funds were used to create 
the CAVE, a virtual environment used in the teaching of health students and now being extended to natural science subjects. 
  
Significant expenditure has been designated for the maintenance and improvement of student accommodation and facilities.  As part of 
the on-going refurbishment programme £2.4m was spent during the year on improving student halls of residence.    
 
Further capital developments, by both the University and its subsidiary companies, are planned for the future.  These developments will 
include the continuing refurbishment, and in some cases replacement, of student residences and the improvement of academic and 
campus facilities.   Examples of the latter are major improvements to Union Square and the Student’ Union Building at the heart of 
campus, a new nursery and the restructuring of the Darwin building to provide a dedicated centre for the Keele Management School.  
The University is also planning to develop projects on the new site adjacent to the existing Science Park. The University intends 
ultimately that this site should be used for a variety of purposes, including academic and commercial activities and the extension of the 
Science Park.  The first development is expected to be a further Science Park building funded by Staffordshire County Council. 
 
 
Investments and Loans 
 
As at 31 July 2011, the University had fixed asset investments with a book value of £55.4m.  It also had short-term deposits of £11.2m.  
The long-term investments will be used partly to fund the planned improvements to student residences but can also be used against 
approved business plans to part-fund capital projects, enabling the leverage of additional loan funding for these projects as necessary.  
An example is the proposed development of a conference hotel referred to under the section on Subsidiary Companies.  
 
The balance on the term loans at 31 July 2011 was £15.2m, and these are being repaid over 20 years.  In addition, the University has 
negotiated a further loan facility of £20m to assist with capital developments to improve the campus and working capital requirements 
over the next few years, whilst it is building up its retained surpluses and the cash generated from its operating activities.  There have 
been no draw-downs against this loan facility to date. 
 
 
Pensions 
 
Pensions for the majority of the University’s staff are provided either through the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS) or the 
Keele Superannuation Scheme (KSS).   
 
USS is a final salary defined benefit scheme. It is a national multi-employer scheme providing pensions for the UK higher education 
sector. As USS is a multi-employer scheme, the University does not include a share of the assets and liabilities of the scheme on its 
balance sheet and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set.  At 31 March 2011 USS had over 142,000 active members and the 
University had 1,184 active members participating in the scheme.  During the year USS consulted with its members on a series of 
changes aimed at reducing the future cost and risks associated with the scheme. Following the consultation a number of changes are 
being introduced to the scheme with effect from 1 October 2011. 
 
KSS is a final salary defined benefit scheme, specifically for University of Keele employees. The scheme is closed to new entrants.  It 
currently has 126 active members, 197 retired members and 115 deferred members.  At 31 July 2011 the scheme had assets of £24m 
and liabilities of £39m giving a deficit of £15m. The University makes an employer contribution of 22.95% to the scheme. In addition it 
continues to make substantial additional contributions in order to reduce the deficit over a 20-year period.  These payments totalled 
£568k for 2010/11 and currently increase annually by 3.7%.  The scheme is due to be revalued as at 1 August 2011.  The results of the 
revaluation together with any recommendations for changes to contribution levels will be available in 2012.  
 
In line with many other defined benefit schemes the long term funding positions of both USS and KSS have been adversely affected by 
a combination of a fall in the value of investments, increases in staff pay levels and increased longevity of pensioners in the scheme.  
The on-going costs and risks associated with both pension schemes are an important element of the future financial position of the 
University. 
 
 
Income and Expenditure Reserves 
 
Before accounting for the pension liability, the balance on the income and expenditure reserve at 31 July 2011 was a positive balance 
of £6m.  Although this is an improvement compared with recent years, the University is aware that its discretionary reserves are low 
compared with the sector and is committed to increasing them year on year.  The medium-term commitment included in the 
University’s 2010-15 Strategic Plan, is to have discretionary reserves of at least 10% of income by 31 July 2016 and, with discretionary 
reserves of 5.9% of income at 31 July 2011, the University is on target to meet this commitment. 
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Risk Management 
 
The following key principles outline the University's approach to risk management and internal control:  
 

 Council has responsibility for establishing an overall risk management policy within the University, which ensures that    
appropriate systems of management and control for the identification, evaluation, management and monitoring of risks exist 
within the University. 

 
 The University and its Council has an open and receptive approach to risk, which encourages honesty about risk and an 

acceptance that however good the risk management of the University is, problems will sometimes occur.  
 

 The Vice-Chancellor and the senior management team support, advise on and implement policies approved by Council. They 
are also responsible for encouraging good risk management practice throughout the University and reporting regularly on the 
status of the risks and controls.  
 

 The University makes realistic recognition and disclosure of the financial and non-financial implications of risk.  
 

 Key risk indicators are identified and closely monitored on a regular basis.  
 

 Council has agreed that the University should define its risk appetite and has approved both an institutional risk appetite 
statement and individual appetite statements for key risk areas.   
 

The University has in place a risk register that facilitates the identification, assessment and on-going monitoring of risks significant to 
the University. The register is formally appraised on an annual basis. Emerging risks are added as required, and actions and risk 
indicators are monitored regularly.  The risk register is directly linked to the University’s Strategic Plan. The progress towards achieving 
each of the Strategic Plan objectives is reported and monitored in the risk register. This indicates the University’s progress against the 
Strategic Plan and the risk of not meeting the University’s strategic objectives.  The University risk register is underpinned by local risk 
registers in all Faculties and Directorates and these local registers are monitored and updated on a regular basis. 
 
 
Subsidiary Companies 
 
The wholly owned subsidiary companies that traded during the year were Keele University Science and Business Park Ltd, Keele 
University Science Park Ltd and Keele Facilities Management Ltd. 
 
Keele University Science and Business Park Ltd was established to support the development of the 70-acre site adjacent to the 
existing Science Park.  The infrastructure works on the site are now fully completed with funding of £9.5m provided by Advantage West 
Midlands in the form of a repayable grant. This site provides an exciting development opportunity, and it is expected that early 
developments will be a new Science Park building funded by Staffordshire County Council and the building of a conference hotel.  In 
addition, the company has now completed the refurbishment of Home Farm, a previously dilapidated building near to the entrance of 
the new site.  The refurbished building will provide both a University facility to demonstrate sustainable energy technologies and rental 
space for new businesses.  The project is being funded by a combination of grant money and internal funds.   
 
Keele University Science Park Ltd has developed commercial properties on the University campus for rental purposes.  During the 
2010/11 financial year the company made a gift aid contribution of £194k to the University.  
 
Keele Facilities Management Ltd has continued to grow its business and is establishing itself as a known provider of facilities 
management within the local area and to the higher education sector.  In the financial year, the company made a gift aid contribution of 
£164k to the University. 
 
 
Going Concern 
 
The University ended the year with current asset investments of £11.2m.  In addition a significant proportion of the fixed asset 
investments is invested in liquid funds that could be available to the University at short notice. The budget for 2011/12 shows that the 
University will continue to generate a surplus and the cash-flow forecasts indicate that there are adequate available financial resources. 
The majority of the University’s external funding of £15m is long-term in nature with more than 70% repayable beyond 5 years. On this 
basis, the Council is assured that the University has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future 
and for at least 12 months from the date of signature of these financial statements. 
 
 
Public Benefit Statement  
 
The University of Keele is an exempt charity under the terms of the Charities Act 1993 and the members of the University’s Council 
also act in the capacity of Trustees to the charity.  This Public Benefit Statement has been included as part of the reporting 
requirements introduced by the Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) as the principal regulator of English higher 
education institutions under the Charities Act 2006. 
 
In setting and reviewing its objectives and activities, the Trustees have had due regard to the Charity Commission’s guidance on the 
reporting of public benefit and particularly to its supplementary public benefit guidance on the advancement of education.  
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The overall aim of the University is to promote teaching and research excellence. The powers set out in the University Charter make 
specific provisions for the advancement of education and knowledge; one of the requirements in the Charter being “to provide 
instruction in such branches of learning as the University may think fit and to make provision for research and for the advancement and 
dissemination of knowledge in such a manner as the University may determine.” 
 
Bringing this aim up to date, Keele’s vision is to continue to be one of the UK’s leading campus-based University communities. This is 
supported by the University’s mission, which is, to provide a high quality educational experience for students shaped by outstanding 
research, contributing positively to social, environmental and economic agendas locally, nationally and internationally.  Observing 
Keele’s founding ethos of “the pursuit of truth in the company of friends” the University is committed to a set of values that underpin its 
vision and mission.   
 
During the year the University reviewed and updated its Strategic Plan.  The revised Plan that was approved by Council in June 2011 
has six over-arching Strategic Aims: 
 

 To be a broad based University of about 10,000 students, recognised internationally for excellence in education and research 
 

 To provide the highest quality student experience to a diverse student body 
 

 To provide international excellence and impact in focused areas of research 
 

 To contribute positively to the society, economy, culture and health of the communities we serve through our research, 
education and enterprise 

 
 To develop an environmentally aware and sustainable outward-facing campus community 

 
 To manage and develop resources effectively to ensure the University’s sustainability and development. 

 
In implementing our aims, mission and objectives, the Trustees are mindful of the University’s responsibility to ensure that it acts for the 
benefit of the public. 
 
 
Student Admission and Widening Participation 
 
Widening Participation is about giving people with the ability to benefit from a university education the information and opportunity to 
access it, regardless of social and economic circumstances.  Keele University is committed to fair access, ensuring that all its courses, 
including the most competitive, can be accessed by students from any background.  Keele practises fair admissions policies and 
provides bursaries (financial payments to undergraduates) and support in order that individuals from under-represented groups at 
University have the best chance of success when choosing Keele as a place to study. One of Keele’s underpinning values is the 
equality of educational opportunity. 

In order to achieve widening participation the University works with thousands of school-aged students every year. It also works with 
parents, teachers, other Higher Education Institutions and external partners providing information and aspiration-raising activities.  Most 
of this work is now delivered through the “KeeleLink” partnership programme, which aims to provide maximum benefit to local and 
regional partner schools and colleges. 

 
Research for the Public Benefit 
 
The University places a high value on excellent research and supports internationally competitive expertise throughout Natural 
Sciences, Humanities and Social Sciences, and Health. The quality and extent of the University’s research of an international standard 
was underlined in the latest UK-wide Research Assessment Exercise (RAE) of 2008.  Some 85% of the research assessed through the 
RAE is now classified as world leading and of international importance. The University produces high quality, multi-disciplinary 
research and applies the research knowledge to produce beneficial outcomes. Examples of this include combating malaria, improving 
social care outcomes, developing sustainable energy technologies and alleviating arthritis.   
 
 
Environmental Sustainability Policy 
 
There is considerable expertise at Keele both in terms of environmental policy and science.  This expertise has led to the development 
of new multi-disciplinary courses in Environment and Sustainability with other programmes also planned.  Keele is implementing plans 
to become a hub for sustainability with its special features being used to bring together universities, researchers, local communities, 
schools, national and international experts, and those wishing to learn about sustainability. 
 
A challenging Environmental Policy has been adopted covering areas such as greening the curriculum, energy reduction, waste 
reduction, sustainable development and transport. Building on Keele's longstanding environmental commitment the policy includes a 
series of demanding targets, including developing a strategy to become a carbon neutral campus. The goal of becoming a carbon 
neutral campus has led to the publication of a new energy strategy which sets out plans to be generating 50% of the University’s 
energy needs on campus by 2020. Exploration drilling is already underway to evaluate the viability of utilising coal bed methane on site 
and plans are advancing for the development of up to 5mW of wind energy on site. 
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The University has recently registered to join the Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy Efficiency Scheme.  This is a national scheme 
announced by the Government in the Energy White Paper (May 2007), and is the UK's first mandatory carbon trading scheme. The 
initial phase of the CRC is compulsory for organisations that consumed over 6,000 MWh of half-hourly metered electricity during the 
period from January 2008 to December 2008.  Each year, the CRC will require participating organisations to purchase and submit 
sufficient allowances to meet their annual emissions covered by the scheme.  The University is currently actively reviewing its 
requirements and strategy for the various aspects of the scheme.   
 
 
Conclusion 
 
The surplus of £4,126k is an extremely good result and builds on the positive result of 2009/10.  Congratulations are due to all budget-
holders, managers and other staff that helped to achieve this.  However the University recognises that there is still much work to do in 
improving its financial standing and positioning itself for the difficult challenges ahead.  We are confident that the work progressed to  
date, particularly in improved student recruitment and the significant reduction in staff costs, together with the plans being implemented 
for the future will ensure that Keele meets these challenges successfully and continues to develop its core strengths of teaching and 
research.  
	
 
Professor N H Foskett 
Vice-Chancellor 
 
 
C J Myatt 
University Treasurer 
 
 
November 2011 
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The following statement is provided to enable readers of the Annual Review and Statement of Accounts of the University of Keele to 
obtain a better understanding of its governance and legal structure. 
 
The University of Keele is an independent corporation and is the successor to the University College of North Staffordshire, founded in 
1949. The University derives its legal status from the Royal Charter granted in 1962 (as subsequently amended) and the status of its 
degrees is recognised by the University of Keele Act 1962.  Like many English universities, the University is a charity exempt from 
registration with the Charity Commission, and since 1 June 2010 the Higher Education Funding Council for England has been the 
principal charity regulator for the University. 
 
The University is committed to exhibiting best practice in all aspects of corporate governance.  The University endeavours to conduct 
its business in accordance with the seven principles identified by the Committee on Standards in Public Life (selflessness, integrity, 
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership) and with the guidance to universities from the Committee of University 
Chairmen in its “Guide for Members of HE Governing Bodies in the UK”.   
 
In line with CUC guidance, Council undertook a review of its own effectiveness during the current financial year. The work of the 
Review Group indicated a strong and healthy relationship between Council and the senior management team.  Council is challenging 
of management whilst remaining constructive and supportive.  Matters of strategic importance are presented to Council and 
appropriate information around the risks currently facing the University and action to mitigate such risks are also presented and 
discussed.  Key financial information, including action being taken to improve financial performance and sustainability, is presented and 
Council members have been fully involved in developing the University’s strategic plan.   
 
The University’s powers and framework of governance are set out in the Charter, its supporting Statutes, Ordinances and Regulations. 
These currently require the University to have three separate bodies, each with clearly defined functions and responsibilities, to 
oversee and manage its activities, as follows: 
 

 The Council is the executive governing body, responsible for the finance, property, investments and general business of the 
University, and for setting the general strategic direction of the institution.  Council members are sometimes referred to as the 
Trustees of the University.  Council has a majority of members from outside the University (described as lay members), from 
whom its Chair and Deputy Chair must be drawn.  Members also include representatives of the University’s academic and 
support staff and student body. None of the lay members receive any payment, apart from the reimbursement of expenses, for 
the work they do for the University.  For a full list of Council members who have served during the last year see page 47. 

 
 The Senate is the academic authority of the University and draws its membership entirely from the academic and academic 

related staff and the students of the institution. Its role is to regulate and superintend the education, welfare and discipline of 
students and the promotion of learning and research.  The Vice-Chancellor is the Chair of the Senate.   

 
 The Court is a large body with no formal power other than to appoint the Chancellor.  During 2011 the Council, with the 

support of the Court, agreed to disband the Court and to replace it with a less formal series of community engagement 
activities.  The University is currently seeking approval from the Privy Council to amend the Charter and Statutes in order to 
remove the requirement for a Court.  

 
The principal academic and administrative officer of the University is the Vice-Chancellor, who has a general responsibility to the 
Council for maintaining and promoting the efficiency and good order of the University.  Under the terms of the formal financial 
memorandum between the University and the Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE), the Vice-Chancellor is the 
accountable officer of the University.  
 
The Council meets four times a year and has several committees, including a Strategic Planning Committee, a Nominations 
Committee, several Promotions Committees for different categories of staff, a Senior Remuneration Committee, an Occupational 
Health and Safety Committee, an Approvals Group, Equality and Diversity Committee and an Audit Committee.  All of these 
committees are formally constituted with written terms of reference and, with the exception of the Equality and Diversity Committee and 
Health and Safety Committee which have broader membership, they have majority lay member representation.   
 
In respect of its strategic and development responsibilities, the Council receives recommendations and advice from the Strategic 
Planning Committee on all matters concerning the strategic development of the University, including the allocation of resources to meet 
the strategic plans, and all other matters concerning the management of the University finances.  The Strategic Planning Committee 
recommends the annual revenue and capital budget and during the year was supported by a Finance Sub-Committee, which monitored 
performance in relation to the approved budgets.  Following the Review of Council Effectiveness conducted in 2011, the Finance Sub-
Committee has been disbanded, with the monitoring of budgets taking place at Strategic Planning Committee. 
 
The Nominations Committee considers nominations for vacancies in the Council membership under the relevant Statute. The 
University, in accordance with guidance based on the Lambert Report, has advertised vacancies nationally against a defined person 
specification.  
 
The Senior Remuneration Committee determines the remuneration of the most senior academic and academic related staff, including 
the Vice-Chancellor. 
 
The Occupational Health and Safety Committee considers matters related to staff and student health and safety on University premises 
and fulfilment of statutory obligations in this respect. 
 
The Council Approvals Group deals with highly complex issues, usually of a financial nature, which are delegated to it by Council and 
which require more time and detailed scrutiny than could be given by Council or the Strategic Planning Committee.  
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The Equality and Diversity Committee is responsible for oversight of all matters concerning the strategic direction and development of 
equality and diversity related activities and for ensuring that the University meets the obligations set out in its Equality and Diversity 
Strategy 
 
The Audit Committee meets at least three times a year, with the University’s external and internal auditors in attendance.  The 
Committee considers detailed reports together with recommendations for the improvement of the University’s systems of internal 
control and management’s responses and implementation plans.  It also receives and considers reports from HEFCE as they affect the 
University’s business and monitors adherence to the regulatory requirements.  Whilst senior executives attend meetings of the Audit 
Committee, they are not members of the Committee and the Committee members may meet the External Auditors on their own for 
independent discussions. 
 
The University maintains a Register of Interests of members of the Council, which may be consulted by arrangement with the 
University Secretary.  Any enquiries about the constitution and governance of the University should also be addressed to the University 
Secretary. 
 
Statement of Primary Responsibilities - The Role of Council 
 
The appointment and powers of Council are laid down by Charter and statutes of the University.  Its main general responsibilities and 
duties, as adopted in June 2011 as part of the Council Review of Council Effectiveness, are as follows: 
  

1. To approve the mission and strategic vision of the institution, long-term academic and business plans and key performance 
indicators, and to ensure that these meet the interests of stakeholders. 

 
2. To delegate authority to the head of the institution, as Chief Executive, for the academic, corporate, financial, estate and 

personnel management of the institution. And to establish and keep under regular review the policies, procedures and limits 
within such management functions as shall be undertaken by and under the authority of the head of the institution. 

 
3. To ensure the establishment and monitoring of systems of control and accountability, including financial and operational 

controls and risk assessment, and procedures for handling internal grievances and for managing conflicts of interest. 
 

4. To ensure that processes are in place to monitor and evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the institution against the 
plans and approved key performance indicators, which should be – where possible and appropriate – benchmarked against 
other comparable institutions. 

 
5. To establish processes to monitor and evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the governing body itself. 

 
6. To conduct its business in accordance with best practice in higher education corporate governance and with the principles of 

public life drawn up by the Committee on Standards in Public Life. 
 

7. To safeguard the good name and values of the institution. 
 

8. To appoint the head of the institution as chief executive, and to put in place suitable arrangements for monitoring his/her 
performance. 

 
9. To appoint a secretary to the governing body and to ensure that, if the person appointed has managerial responsibilities in the 

institution, there is an appropriate separation in the lines of accountability. 
 

10. To be the employing authority for all staff in the institution and to be responsible for establishing a human resources strategy. 
 

11. To be the principal financial and business authority of the institution, to ensure that proper books of account are kept, to 
approve the annual budget and financial statements, and to have overall responsibility for the institution’s assets, property and 
estate. 

 
12. To be the institution’s legal authority and, as such, to ensure that systems are in place for meeting all the institution’s legal 

obligations, including those arising from contracts and other legal commitments made in the institution’s name. 
 

13. To make such provision as it thinks fit for the general welfare of students, in consultation with the senate or academic board. 
 

14. To act as trustee for any property, legacy, endowment, bequest or gift in support of the work and welfare of the institution. 
 

15. To ensure that the institution’s constitution is followed at all times and that appropriate advice is available to enable this to 
happen. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
Risk Management and the System of Internal Control  
 
As the governing body of the University of Keele, the Council has responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that 
supports the achievement of policies, aims and objectives, while safeguarding public and other funds and assets for which the 
University is responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to the governing body in the University’s Charter and 
Statutes, and in the Financial Memorandum with HEFCE.  The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. 
 
The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify the principal risks to the achievement of policies, 
aims and objectives, to evaluate the nature and extent of those risks, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.  
The University has reviewed and updated its risk management procedures, which continue to enable it to be fully compliant with 
HEFCE requirements. 
 
The University has a published risk management policy.  This policy identifies clearly and distinguishes the roles and responsibilities of 
both the Council and the executive management team. Risk management was effective for the 2010/11 financial year. The policy was 
further reviewed during the year and a revised version was formally approved by Council in June 2011. 
 
The University employs UNIAC to undertake its internal audit functions and they operate to standards defined in the HEFCE Audit 
Code of Practice.  The internal auditors submit regular reports to the Audit Committee, including the head of internal audit’s 
independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control, together with recommendations for 
improvement.  The Chair of Audit Committee provides the Council with regular reports concerning internal control. 
 
The Council’s review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors and the 
executive managers within the University who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework, and by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports.  
 
The University considers that it has achieved full compliance with corporate governance requirements.  The University has been 
compliant with the Committee of University Chairmen Governance Code with one exception during the current year. The exception is 
with regard to the size of the Governing Body, which, at 28, is slightly larger than the recommended 25. The decision of Council in 2004 
was that the size was appropriate in order to offer the range of skills and experience necessary to deliver its responsibilities.  This was 
confirmed again by the self-effectiveness review in 2007 but has been amended by the 2011 Effectiveness Review and the size of 
Council in the next financial year will be 25, in line with the Committee of University Chairmen Governance Code.   The reduction in the 
size of Council has been achieved by removing three executive members; the number of lay members of Council remains unchanged. 
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COUNCIL OF THE UNIVERSITY OF KEELE 
 
In accordance with its Charter of Incorporation, the Council of the University of Keele is responsible for the administration and 
management of the affairs of the University of Keele including ensuring an effective system of internal control, and is required to 
present audited financial statements for each financial year. 
 
The Council has responsibility for ensuring that the University keeps proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the University and to enable it to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with the University’s Charter of Incorporation, the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher 
Education and other relevant accounting standards.  In addition, within the terms and conditions of a Financial Memorandum agreed 
between the Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) and the Council of the University of Keele, the Council, through 
its accountable officer, is required to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the University and of the surplus or deficit and cash flows for that year. 
 
In causing the financial statements to be prepared, the Council has ensured that: 
 
 Suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently; 

 Judgements and estimates are made that are reasonable and prudent; 

 Applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the 
financial statements; 

 
 Financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the University will 

continue in operation.  The Council is satisfied that the University has adequate resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future.  For this reason the going concern basis continues to be adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements. 

 
The Council has taken such steps as are reasonably open to it to: 
 
 Ensure that funds from HEFCE and the Training and Development Agency for Schools are used only for the purposes for 

which they have been given and in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with HEFCE and the funding arrangement 
with the Training and Development Agency for Schools and any other conditions which HEFCE or the Training and 
Development Agency for Schools may from time to time prescribe; 

 
 Ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard public funds and funds from other 

sources; 
 
 Safeguard the assets of the University and prevent and detect fraud; 

 
 Secure the economical, efficient and effective management of the University’s resources and expenditure. 
 
The key elements of the University’s system of internal financial control, which is designed to discharge the responsibilities set out 
above, include the following: 
 
 Clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and the authority delegated to, heads of academic and administrative departments; 
 
 A comprehensive medium and short-term planning process, supplemented by detailed annual income, expenditure, capital 

and cash flow budgets; 
 
 Regular reviews of academic performance and monthly reviews of financial results involving variance reporting and updates of 

forecast outturns; 
 
 Clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and control of expenditure, with investment decisions involving 

capital or revenue expenditure being subject to formal detailed appraisal and review according to approval levels set by the 
Council; 

 
 Comprehensive Financial Regulations, detailing financial controls and procedures, approved by the Audit Committee and the 

Finance Sub-Committee; 
 
 Professional Internal Audit team whose annual programme is approved by the Audit Committee and whose head provides the 

Council with a report on internal audit activity within the University and an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
University’s system of internal control, including internal financial control. 

 
Any system of internal financial control can, however, only provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE COUNCIL OF THE UNIVERSITY OF KEELE  

 
We have audited the Consolidated and University financial statements (the ‘‘financial statements’’) of the University of Keele for the 
year ended 31 July 2011 which comprise the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account, the Consolidated and University Balance 
Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses, the Accounting 
Policies and the related notes.  The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).  
 
This report is made solely to the Council, in accordance with the Charter and Statutes of the University and section 124B of the 
Education Reform Act 1988. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Council those matters we are required 
to state to it in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Council, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  
 
Respective Responsibilities of the University’s Council and Auditor 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities of the University’s Council set out on page 11, the Council is responsible 
for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion, on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.  

 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the University’s circumstances and have been consistently applied 
and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Council; and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Financial Statements to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 

 
Opinion on financial statements 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 

 give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the University and the Group as at 31 July 2011 and of the Group’s income 
and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the year then ended; 

 
 have been properly prepared in accordance with the United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

 
 have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher 

Education. 
 

Opinion on other matters prescribed in the HEFCE Audit Code of Practice issued under the Further and Higher Education Act 
1992 
 
In our opinion, in all material respects: 
 

 funds from whatever source administered by the University for specific purposes have been properly applied to those 
purposes;  

 
 income has been applied in accordance with the University's Statutes; and 

 
 funds provided by HEFCE have  been applied in accordance with the Financial Memorandum and any other terms and 

conditions attached to them. 
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matter where the HEFCE Audit Code of Practice issued under the Further and 
Higher Education Act 1992 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 the statement of internal control, included as part of the Corporate Governance Statement,  is inconsistent with our knowledge 
of the University and group. 

 
 
 
Trevor Rees  
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants, Registered Auditor 
St James’ Square, Manchester, M2 6DS



       University of Keele  

 13 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 
 

for the year ended 31 July 2011  
 

                     2010/11              2009/10 

             
 
         Note        £’000        £’000 
 
Income        
 
Funding council grants       1      36,324      36,158 
Academic fees and support grants      2      38,131          34,054 
Research grants and contracts      3      11,945      11,714 
Other operating income       4                     27,305      30,524  
Endowment income and interest receivable     5        1,710        1,707  
                  ____________        ____________ 
               
Total income                           115,415                   114,157 
                   ___________         ____________ 
   
Expenditure 
 
Staff costs        6      67,924      70,894 
Other operating expenses       7       37,065      34,649 
Depreciation                      11        5,156        4,884 
Interest payable and other finance costs      8          1,726        1,888 
                 _____________       ____________  
 
Total expenditure                           111,871                   112,315 
                _____________       ____________  
 
Surplus after depreciation of assets at valuation and before tax                         3,544        1,842 
 
Taxation                       10                           12               - 
                _____________       ____________  
 
Surplus after depreciation of assets at valuation and tax           3,532             1,842   
 
Share of operating loss in joint ventures                    12          242               - 
                _____________       ____________  
       
Surplus before exceptional item             3,290        1,842  
 
Exceptional item 
Reversal of impairment of fixed asset investments                                   -           959 
                   _____________       ____________ 
 
Surplus after depreciation of assets at valuation, tax and exceptional item        3,290        2,801 
 
 
Surplus for the year transferred from accumulated income in endowment funds                 13             50             45 
                 _____________       ____________  
 
Surplus for the year after transfer from endowment funds        3,340         2,846   
 
NOTE OF GROUP HISTORICAL COST SURPLUSES  
 
Difference between a historical cost depreciation charge and the actual 
depreciation charge for the year calculated on the revalued amount               21        749            725 
 
Release from revaluation reserve on disposal of assets                21          37                             95  
                 _____________       _____________ 
  
Historical cost surplus for the year after taxation  
retained within general reserves      22     4,126                        3,666 
                                                                              
 
 
The consolidated income and expenditure of the University and its subsidiaries relate wholly to continuing operations. 
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STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES 

for the year ended 31 July 2011

  2010/11  2009/10

 Note £'000  £'000
     

Surplus after depreciation of assets at valuation and tax and before exceptional item  3,290  1,842

Receipt of endowments 13 187  142

Actuarial loss in respect of pension scheme 22 (140)  (3,295)

Exceptional item – reversal of impairment of fixed asset investments  -  959

Unrealised surplus on revaluation of fixed asset investments 21 195  -
     
     
Total recognised gains / (losses) for the year  3,532  (352)

       
Reconciliation  £'000  £'000

     

Opening reserves and endowments  21,255  21,607

Total recognised gains / (losses) for the year  3,532  (352)
    

Closing reserves and endowments  24,787  21,255
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UNIVERSITY AND CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
as at 31 July 2011 

                         Consolidated  University 

        

   2011  2010  2011  2010

  Note £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000

Fixed assets         

          

Tangible assets 11 154,083  149,726  136,422  134,424

Investments 12 55,462  53,829  55,937  54,304

Investment in joint venture: 12     

  Share of gross assets  8  231  -  -

  Share of gross liabilities  (250)  (231)  -  -
          

   209,303  203,555  192,359  188,728
          

Endowment asset investments 13 1,024  887  1,024  887
          
              

Current assets         
          

Stocks and stores in hand  250  239  249  238

Debtors      

 - amounts falling due within one year 14 7,041  6,478  7,028  6,584

 - amounts falling due after one year 14 2,593 2,723  7,119  7,226

Investments 15 11,237  12,811  11,237  12,811

Cash at bank and in hand  1,645  2,123  1,290  1,612
          

   22,766  24,374  26,923  28,471

Less: Creditors - amounts falling         

due within one year 16 48,971  47,578  48,656  47,249

          
            

Net current liabilities  (26,205)  (23,204)  (21,733)  (18,778)
          

Total assets less current liabilities  184,122  181,238  171,650  170,837
          

Less: Creditors - amounts falling due      

after more than one year 17 95,664  99,337  86,171  89,844

          

Less: Provisions for liabilities 18 389  180  358  161
          

Net assets excluding pension liability  88,069  81,721  85,121  80,832

          

Net pension liability 33 (14,977)  (14,775)  (14,977)  (14,775)

          
Net assets including pension liability  73,092  66,946  70,144  66,057
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UNIVERSITY AND CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
as at 31 July 2011 

 

   Consolidated  University 

        

   2011 2010 2011  2010

  Note £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000

          

Deferred capital grants 19 48,305  45,691  45,044  44,922
          

            

Endowment funds         

          

Expendable 20 847  660  847  660

Permanent 20 177  227  177  227
          

   1,024  887  1,024   887
          
          

Reserves         

          
Income and expenditure account excluding pension 
reserve  6,010  1,822  7,969  3,370

Pension reserve  (14,977)  (14,775)  (14,977)  (14,775)
         
Income and expenditure account including pension 
reserve 22 (8,967)  (12,953)  (7,008)  (11,405)

          

Revaluation reserve 21 32,730  33,321  31,084  31,653
          

   23,763  20,368  24,076  20,248
          
              

Total funds  73,092  66,946  70,144  66,057
          

              

          

          

The financial statements on pages 13 to 46 were approved by the Council on 10 November 2011, and signed on its behalf by: 

 

        

       

 N. H. Foskett,  Vice-Chancellor   I. J. Dudson, Pro-Chancellor   

         

       

         

 C. J. Myatt, Treasurer   K. J. Clarke, Director of Finance and IT   
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the year ended 31 July 2011 

     2010/11  2009/10

   Note  £'000  £'000

        

Net cash inflow from operating activities 29  6,326  4,266

Returns on investments and servicing of finance 31  (151)  (193)

Capital expenditure and financial investment 32  (7,183)  1,602
         

Cash (outflow) / inflow before use of liquid resources and financing    (1,008)  5,675
        

Management of liquid resources – inflow / (outflow) of short-term deposits   1,437  (7,336)

Financing      

 Draw-down of new loans 28  -  5,000

 Repayment of loans 28  (831)  (3,147)
         

(Decrease) / increase in cash    (402)  192
        

          

Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net Debt 

for the year ended 31 July 2011

     2010/11  2009/10

     £'000  £'000
        

(Decrease) / increase in cash in the year   (402)  192

(Decrease) / increase in short-term deposits   (1,437)  7,336

Draw-down of new loans   -  (5,000)

Repayment of loans   831  3,147
         

Change in net debt   (1,008)  5,675
        

Net debt at 1 August 2010   (626)  (6,301)
          

Net debt at 31 July 2011 30  (1,634)  (626)
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STATEMENT OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
1. Basis of Preparation 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for 
Further and Higher Education and in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards. 
 
The University’s activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out 
in the Operating and Financial Review. This also describes the financial position of the University, its cash flows, liquidity 
position and borrowing facilities, the University’s capital position and its financial risk management strategy. The Council has a 
reasonable expectation that the University has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. Thus it continues to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention as modified for the 
revaluation of certain fixed assets. 

 
2. Basis of Consolidation 
 

The Consolidated financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the University and its wholly owned subsidiary 
companies for the financial year to 31 July.  A full list of the subsidiary companies is provided in note 12. 

 
Unless otherwise stated, the acquisition method of accounting has been adopted. Under this method, the results of subsidiary 
undertakings acquired or disposed of in the year are included in the consolidated income and expenditure account from the 
date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal. Goodwill arising on consolidation (representing the excess of the fair value of 
the consideration given over the fair value of the separable net assets acquired) is capitalised on acquisition.  Intra-group 
sales and profits are eliminated fully on consolidation.  Amounts in relation to debts and claims between subsidiary companies 
included in the consolidation are also eliminated. 
 
The University’s share of income and expenditure in joint venture entities is recognised in the University’s income and 
expenditure account in accordance with FRS 9, Associates and Joint Ventures.  Similarly, the University’s share of assets and 
liabilities in associate entities is recognised in the University’s balance sheet in accordance with FRS 9.  The gross equity 
method is used when consolidating joint venture entities, and associated entities are consolidated using the equity method in 
accordance with FRS 9. 
 
Balances between the University and its associates and joint ventures are not eliminated.  Unsettled normal trading 
transactions are included as current assets or liabilities.   

 
The financial statements do not consolidate the Students’ Union as it is a separate body in which the University has no 
financial interest and no control or significant influence over policy decisions. 
 

3. Income Recognition 
 

Funding Council grants are included in the income and expenditure account in line with the specific terms and conditions 
attached, and are accounted for in the period to which they relate. 
 
Academic fee income is stated gross and credited to the income and expenditure account over the period in which the 
students are studying. Where the amount of the tuition fee is reduced, income receivable is shown net of the discount. 
Bursaries and scholarships are accounted for gross as expenditure and included within operating expenditure. 

 
Income derived from research grants and contracts or donations received for specific purposes are included in the income and 
expenditure account to the extent of equivalent expenditure incurred during the year together with any related contributions 
towards overhead costs.  
 
Endowment and investment income, including income from short term deposits, is credited to the income and expenditure 
account on a receivable basis. Income from restricted endowments not expended in accordance with the restrictions of the 
endowment is transferred from the income and expenditure account to restricted endowments. Any realised gains or losses 
from dealing in the related assets are retained within the endowment in the balance sheet. 

 
Increases in value arising on the revaluation of fixed asset investments are carried as credits to the revaluation reserve via the 
statement of total recognised gains and losses; a diminution in value is charged to the income and expenditure account as a 
debit to the extent that it is not covered by a previous revaluation surplus. Increases/decreases in value arising on the 
revaluation or disposal of endowment assets, that is the appreciation/depreciation of endowment assets, are added to or 
subtracted from the funds concerned and accounted for through the balance sheet by debiting or crediting the endowment 
asset and crediting or debiting the endowment fund and reported in the statement of total recognised gains and losses. 

 
Income from the sale of goods or services is credited to the income and expenditure account when the goods or services are 
supplied to the external customers against the order received or the terms of the contract have been satisfied. 

 
In both 2000/01 and 2006/07 the University received premiums for the lease of student accommodation to Keele Residential 
Funding plc, previously Owengate (Keele) plc.  These premiums, after deducting all direct costs associated with arranging the 
leases, are being released to the income and expenditure account over the period of the respective lease agreements on a 
straight-line basis.    
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STATEMENT OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
4.  Agency Arrangements 
 

Funds the University receives and disburses as paying agent on behalf of a funding body or other body, where the University 
is exposed to minimal risk or enjoys minimal economic benefit related to the receipt and subsequent disbursement of the 
funds, are excluded from the income and expenditure of the University. 

 
5. Foreign Currency Translations 
 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the dates of the transactions. 
Current monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at year end rates. The 
resulting exchange differences are dealt with in the determination of income and expenditure for the financial year. 

 
6. Leases and Hire Purchase Contracts 
 

Leasing agreements, which transfer to the University substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership of an asset, are 
treated as if the asset had been purchased outright.  Fixed assets held under finance leases and the related lease obligations 
are recorded in the balance sheet at the fair value of the leased assets at the inception of the lease. The excess of lease 
payments over recorded lease obligations are treated as finance charges which are amortised over each lease term to give a 
constant rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations. 
 
Rental costs under operating leases are charged to expenditure in equal annual amounts over the periods of the lease term. 
 

7. Disposal of Fixed Assets and Assets Held for Re-sale 
 

Where a fixed asset is to be disposed of or is being held for re-sale, it will be transferred from fixed assets to current assets. 
This will occur where the following criteria are met (a) the asset is not being replaced, (b) there is a commitment to sell the 
asset and (c) the asset is no longer in use. The asset would then be valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. After 
the transfer to current assets, any subsequent profit or loss on disposal of the assets would be disclosed as an exceptional 
item after the operating result in the income and expenditure account.   

 
8. Land and Buildings 
 

The transitional rules set out in FRS 15, Tangible Fixed Assets, have been applied in implementing FRS 15, and no policy of 
annual revaluation has been adopted. The values assigned under the transitional rules are retained subject to the requirement 
to test assets for impairment in accordance with FRS 11, Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill.  Land and buildings are 
stated at the revalued amount.  The basis of valuation for the University was an open market value for existing use on 
Depreciated Replacement Cost, and the valuation at 31 July 1992 was performed by Grimley (International Property 
Advisers).  The basis of valuation for the subsidiary company, Keele University Science Park Ltd, was on an open market 
capital value at an equivalent yield of 11%, and the valuation at 31 July 1998 was performed by Heywoods, Chartered 
Surveyors.    
   
Costs incurred after the initial construction of a building are capitalised to the extent that they increase the expected future 
benefits to the University from the existing tangible fixed asset beyond its previously assessed standard of performance.  The 
costs of any such enhancements are added to the gross carrying amount of the tangible fixed asset concerned.  

 
Freehold land is not depreciated as it is considered to have an indefinite useful life. Buildings are depreciated from the date of 
completion over their expected useful lives of 60 years and expenditure on furniture and equipment capitalised as part of new 
capital projects is depreciated from the date of purchase on a straight-line basis over 10 years.   
 
Where buildings are acquired with the aid of specific grants they are capitalised and depreciated as above.  The related grants 
are treated as deferred capital grants and released to income over the expected useful life of the buildings from the date of 
completion of the building at the same rate as the depreciation charge on the asset for which the grant was awarded.   
 
Depreciation in relation to the subsidiary companies’ head lease and buildings is provided on a straight-line basis at the 
following rates:- 

 
  Head Lease   0.80% on cost 
  Buildings    1.66% on cost/revaluation 
  

Assets under construction are accounted for at cost, based on the value of the architect’s certificates and other direct costs 
incurred as at 31 July.  They are not depreciated until they are brought into use.  
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STATEMENT OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
9. Equipment and Furniture 
 

Depreciation in relation to equipment and furniture is provided on a straight-line basis from the month of purchase at the 
following rates: 

 
 Equipment and furniture  4 – 10 years on cost 

 
Equipment and furniture costing less than £10,000 per individual item or group of related items is written off in the year of 
acquisition. This level was changed in the current financial year from £2,000. If £2,000 had been maintained as the level of 
capitalisation, £438,000 would have been capitalised in year.  Using the new £10,000 level, £235,000 was capitalised. All 
equipment and furniture costing more than £10,000 is capitalised at cost and depreciated over its expected useful life from the 
month of purchase.     
 
Where it is acquired with the aid of specific grants it is capitalised and depreciated as above. The related grant is treated as a 
deferred capital grant and released to income over the expected useful life of the equipment from the month of purchase at 
the same rate as the depreciation charge on the asset for which the grant was awarded.    

 
10. Maintenance of Premises 
 

The cost of routine maintenance is charged to the income and expenditure account in the period it is incurred. The University 
has a planned maintenance programme that is reviewed periodically. Actual expenditure on planned maintenance and repairs 
is charged to the income and expenditure account in the period it is incurred. 

 
11. Heritage Assets 
 

Works of art and other valuable artefacts (heritage assets) valued at over £50,000 will be capitalised and recognised at the 
cost or value of the acquisition, where such a cost or valuation is reasonably obtainable.  The University uses the valuation for 
insurance purposes as the basis for the value reflected in the financial statements.  No depreciation is provided for heritage 
assets as they are deemed to have an indeterminate life, but they are reviewed for impairment purposes. 

 
12. Donated Assets 
 

Donated assets are capitalised at market value and depreciated in line with other assets of the same category. The 
University’s significant donated assets are works of art, porcelain and antiques. These are now treated as heritage assets, 
and are accounted for in line with the heritage asset policy above.  All other donated assets currently held have a £nil net book 
value. 

 
13. Accounting for Goodwill and Intangible Fixed Assets 
 

Positive purchased goodwill is capitalised and classified as an asset on the balance sheet.  Internally developed intangible 
assets are capitalised where there is a readily ascertainable market value. 

 
14. Fixed Asset Investments 
 

Listed investments held as fixed assets are shown at market value. Other fixed asset investments are accounted for using the 
historical cost method, subject to an annual impairment review.  The fixed asset investments include the Keele Residential 
Fund.  An amount equivalent to the expected expenditure on the refurbishment and other capital programmes in the next 
twelve months has been transferred to current asset investments. 

  
15. Current Asset and Endowment Asset Investments  
 
 Investments, which may include listed investments, are included at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
16. Stocks 
 

Stocks comprising raw materials and consumables are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Materials held by 
academic and academic service departments are excluded, this expenditure being charged to the income and expenditure 
account when incurred. 

 
17. Taxation 
  

The University is an exempt charity within the meaning of Schedule 2 of the Charities Act 1993 and, as such, is a charity 
within the meaning of Para 1 of Schedule 6 to the Finance Act 2010. Accordingly, the University, but not its subsidiary 
companies, is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered by 
Sections 478-488 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 to the extent 
that such income or gains are applied to exclusively charitable purposes.  

 
The University group receives no similar exemption in respect of Value Added Tax (VAT).  Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is 
included in the costs of such inputs in the income and expenditure account.  Any irrecoverable VAT allocated to tangible fixed 
assets is included in their costs. 
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STATEMENT OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
18. Deferred Taxation 

 
Deferred taxation is recognised, without discounting, in respect of all timing differences between the treatment of certain items 
for taxation and accounting purposes which have arisen but not reversed by the balance sheet date, except as otherwise 
required by FRS 19. 
 
Deferred taxation is measured using rates of tax that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

 
19. Accounting for Research and Development 
 

Expenditure on pure and applied research is treated as a part of the continuing activities of the University.  Expenditure on 
development activities is carried forward and amortised over the period expected to benefit.  

 
20. Pensions 
 

The University participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit scheme which is contracted 
out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. Because 
of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not hypothecated to individual institutions and a scheme-wide 
contribution rate is set. The University is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other institutions’ employees, and 
is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and 
therefore, as required by FRS 17, Retirement Benefits, accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. 
As a result, the amount charged to the income and expenditure account represents the contributions payable to the scheme in 
respect of the accounting period.  
 
The University operates the Keele Superannuation Scheme (KSS) providing benefits based on final pensionable pay. The 
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the University, and the scheme is contracted out of the State Second 
Pension (S2P).  The scheme is closed to new entrants. Pension scheme assets are measured using market values.  Pension 
scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit method, and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality 
corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liability.   
 
The KSS pension scheme surplus (to the extent that it is recoverable) or deficit is recognised in full. The movement in the 
scheme surplus/deficit is split between operating charges, finance items and, in the statement of total recognised gains and 
losses, actuarial gains and losses.   
 
A small number of staff remain in other pension schemes. 
 

21. Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 

Provisions are recognised when the University has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. 
 
Contingent liabilities are disclosed by way of a note, when the definition of a provision is not met and includes three scenarios: 
possible rather than a present obligation; a possible rather than a probable outflow of economic benefits; an inability to 
measure the economic outflow. 
 
Contingent assets are disclosed by way of a note, where there is a probable asset arising from a past event. 
 

22. Accounting for charitable donations 
 

Unrestricted donations 
 
Charitable donations are recognised in the accounts when the charitable donation has been received or if, before receipt, 
there is sufficient evidence to provide the necessary certainty that the donation will be received and the value of the incoming 
resources can be measured with sufficient reliability. 
 
Endowment funds 
 
Where charitable donations are to be retained for the benefit of the institution as specified by the donors, these are accounted 
for as endowments. There are three main types: 
 
1. Unrestricted permanent endowments - the donor has specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to generate an 
income stream for the general benefit of the University; 
 
2. Restricted expendable endowments - the donor has specified a particular objective (other than the purchase or construction 
of tangible fixed assets which would be accounted for as a deferred capital grant), and the University can convert the donated 
sum into income; and 
 
3. Restricted permanent endowments - the donor has specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to generate an 
income stream to be applied to a particular objective. 
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STATEMENT OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
22. Accounting for charitable donations (continued) 
 

The total return, (where the total return is the whole of the investment return received by the University on the permanent 
endowment funds regardless of how it has arisen), less any part of the return which has previously been applied for the 
purposes of the University, remains in the accumulated income fund. This fund remains part of the permanent endowment 
until such time as a transfer is made to the income and expenditure account. 

 
23. Cash Flows and Liquid Resources 
 

Cash flows comprise increases or decreases in cash.  Cash includes cash in hand, cash at bank and deposits repayable on 
demand.  Deposits are repayable on demand if they are available within 24 hours without penalty.  Overdrafts are included 
within creditors falling due within one year. 
 
Liquid resources comprise assets readily realisable, and they include term deposits and other instruments held as part of the 
University’s treasury management activities.   
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
1  Funding Council Grants     2010/11  2009/10

      £'000  £'000
         

Recurrent grant   30,454  29,755

Specific grants   2,862  3,252

Training and Development Agency for Schools   1,304  1,529

Deferred capital grants released in year (Note 19) Buildings   1,018  985

    Equipment  686  637
         
      36,324  36,158
         

           

 
2  Academic Fees and Support Grants     2010/11  2009/10

      £'000  £'000
         

Home and EU students   27,723  25,923

International students    8,927  6,116

Short course fees   512  1,390

Research training support grants   969  625
         
      38,131  34,054
         

           

 
      

3  Research Grants And Contracts  2010/11  2009/10

   £'000  £'000
      

Research councils   2,767  3,025

Charitable bodies  2,229  2,432

Other bodies   6,949  6,257
      

   11,945  11,714

Less contribution to overheads  986  1,162
      
Expenditure  10,959  10,552
      

        
The costs of staff and materials utilised in research work undertaken in the Institute of Science and Technology in Medicine and met directly 
from the funds of the University Hospital of North Staffordshire NHS Trust are not included above. These costs are £135,479 for the Trust's year 
ended 31 March 2011 (2010: £135,123). 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

4  Other Operating Income   2010/11  2009/10

    £'000  £'000
       

Residences, catering and conferences    7,996  8,248

Released from deferred capital grants (Note 19)    248  291

Operating lease rentals (see note below)    6,551  6,382

Profit on sale of fixed assets      256  -

Gains on fixed asset investments      1,759  1,378

Other income      10,495  14,225
         
      27,305  30,524
        

 
       

The operating lease rentals comprise the annual rental payment received from Keele Residential Funding plc and the annual release of the lump 
sum premiums received from the financial restructuring. 

 

5  Endowment Income and Interest Receivable   2010/11  2009/10

     

      £'000  £'000
         

Income from expendable endowments (Note 20)   6  6

Income from permanent endowments (Note 20)   1  3

Income from investments   1,689  1,671

Other interest receivable   14  27
      

   1,710  1,707
         

           

 

6  Staff    2010/11  2009/10

      

      £'000  £'000

Staff costs:      

Wages and salaries   54,847  58,608

Social security costs   4,214  4,457

Other pension costs (Note 33)   7,408  7,340
         

      66,469  70,405

Early retirement/severance costs  1,455  489

None of these costs relate to higher paid staff (2010: £Nil)      

      67,924  70,894
      

     

A general pay award of 0.4% was made from 1 August 2010   
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

6  Staff (continued) 

   2010/11  2009/10

   £'000  £'000

Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor (including accommodation allowance)   234  237
         

          

Emoluments of the highest paid senior post holder    234  237
         

          
The emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor include gross pay and a notional accommodation allowance, but exclude employers’ pension 
contributions. The University's pension contributions to USS are paid at the same rates as for other academic staff and amounted to £30,000
(2010: £36,000).   

 

   2010/11  2009/10
 
Average staff numbers by major category   Number  Number

   Academic/Research   623  640

   Technical   79  84

   Academic related   215  223

   Secretarial/Clerical   490  515

   Other   531  552
         

   1,938  2,014
      

      
 
Remuneration of higher paid staff excluding employers’ pension contributions     

        

   £100,000 - £109,999   6  5

   £110,000 - £119,999   1  2

   £120,000 - £129,999   1  1

   £130,000 - £139,999   1  2

   £140,000 - £149,999   5  6

   £150,000 - £159,999   1  1

   £160,000 - £169,999   2  2

   £170,000 - £179,999   2  -

   £190,000 - £199,999   1  -

   £200,000 - £209,999   -  1

   £220,000 - £229,999   1  -

   £230,000 - £239,999   -  1
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 

7 Other Operating Expenses   2010/11  2009/10

   £'000 £'000
       

Residences, catering and conferences   4,200 4,769

Consumables and laboratory expenditure   792 579

Books and periodicals   1,040 1,091

Fellowships, scholarships and prizes   4,334 3,687

Heat, light, water and power   2,313 2,654

Repairs and general maintenance   2,647 2,480

Grants to Keele University Student Union and other student bodies   699 641

Rent and rates   1,704 1,910

Auditors remuneration – external   37 37

                                     - other services   40 27

                                     - internal   76 75

Equipment   1,465 1,717

Research expenses   3,153 2,618

Teaching fees   3,070 1,695

Printing and stationery   971 1,211

Telephones   67 78

Subscriptions   757 729

Advertising   262 334

Travel, subsistence and conference expenses   1,389 1,358

Impairment of fixed asset investments (see note 12)   3,813 2,135

Consultants and works fees   1,108 1,051

Licence fees   582 389

Relocation expenses   20 21

Insurance   507 552

Loss on disposal of assets   - 178

Losses on fixed asset investments   174 52

Other   1,845 2,581
    
    37,065 34,649
       

      
 

Expense payments to trustees 
 
The Council is considered to be the Trustee Board of the University, and it is composed of members of staff of the University and non-staff (“lay”) 
members.  Council members are eligible to claim for direct expenses incurred in their role as a trustee, for items such as travel expenses in 
attending Council meetings.   Expenses are paid to Council members who are University staff members, but for the year to 31 July 2011 all of 
these expenses relate to their activity as a member of staff rather than as a trustee.  As such, there are no expenses to declare for University staff 
in their role as a trustee of the University.  Additionally, no staff members of Council were paid additional remuneration, or waived a right to 
additional remuneration, for their role as a trustee of the University. The following expenses have been paid to lay members of Council for the 
year ended 31 July 2011: 
 
Total expenses (£)   Nature of expense   Number of lay trustees claiming expenses 
 
    4,000   Travel expenses     3 
 
There were no payments, or waived payments, to lay members of Council for serving as a trustee. 

 
8  Interest Payable and Other Finance Costs    2010/11  2009/10

     

       £'000 £'000

          

Bank and other loans wholly repayable within five years    - 151

Loans not wholly repayable within five years    960  908
          

       960 1,059
Pension finance costs    766 829
        

       1,726 1,888
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

9 Expenditure by Activity Staff costs Depreciation

Other 
operating 
expenses 

Interest 
payable Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
      

Academic departments 37,585 1,469 8,052 - 47,106

Academic services 3,182 924 2,171 - 6,277

Research grants and contracts (Note 3) 7,807 - 3,152 - 10,959

Residences, catering and facilities management 5,037 941 4,471 - 10,449

Premises 3,157 1,170 6,049 286 10,662

Administration and central services 8,357 652 8,219 - 17,228

Restructuring 1,455 - - - 1,455

Impairment of fixed asset investments - - 3,813 - 3,813

Staff and student facilities 1,456 - 1,045 - 2,501

Other expenses (112) - 93 1,440 1,421
  

Total per income and expenditure account 67,924 5,156 37,065 1,726 111,871
  

  

2009/10 70,894 4,884 34,649 1,888 112,315
       

     
The depreciation charge has been funded by: £'000   
Deferred capital grants released 1,952    
Revaluation reserve released 786   
General income 2,418   
     

  5,156   
      
      

 
 

10  Taxation       2010/11 2009/10
       

       £'000 £'000
          

Deferred tax on profits of subsidiary companies    12 -
          

             

The University does not believe that any current taxation will be payable by the group.  
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

11  Tangible Assets  

Consolidated Land & Buildings 
 

Equipment 
Heritage 
Assets Total 

  Completed 
Under 

Construction Completed
Under 

Construction  

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Valuation/Cost       

At 1 August 2010       

 Valuation 66,848 -  -  - 4,642 71,490

 Cost 102,600 1,468 31,521 12 - 135,601

        

Additions at cost 5,781 2,866 1,133 137 - 9,917

  

Transfer - - 12 (12) - -

  

Disposals 

 Valuation (54) - - - - (54)

 Cost (393) - (695) - - (1,088)
        

At 31 July 2011           

 Valuation 66,794 - - - 4,642 71,436

 Cost 107,988 4,334 31,971 137 - 144,430
        

            

Depreciation       

At 1 August 2010 32,215 - 25,150 - - 57,365
        

Charge for year 3,338 - 1,818 - - 5,156

        

Eliminated on disposals (50) - (688) - - (738)
        

At 31 July 2011 35,503 - 26,280 - - 61,783
        

Net book value       

        

At 31 July 2011 139,279 4,334 5,691 137 4,642 154,083
        

           

At 1 August 2010 137,233 1,468 6,371            12 4,642 149,726
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

11  Tangible Assets (continued) 

University Land & Buildings 
 

Equipment 
Heritage 
Assets Total 

  Completed
Under 

Construction Completed
Under 

Construction  

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Valuation/Cost       

At 1 August 2010       

 Valuation 61,659 - - - 4,642 66,301

 Cost 92,324 190 31,204 12 - 123,730

        

Additions at cost 5,735 393 1,133 91 - 7,352

  

Transfer - - 12 (12) - -

  

Disposals 

 Valuation (54) - - - - (54)

 Cost (393) - (695) - - (1,088)
        

At 31 July 2011           

 Valuation 61,605 - - - 4,642 66,247

 Cost 97,666 583 31,654 91 - 129,994
        

            

Depreciation       

At 1 August 2010 30,776 - 24,831 - - 55,607
        

Charge for year 3,133 - 1,817 - - 4,950

        

Eliminated on disposals (50) - (688) - - (738)
        

At 31 July 2011 33,859 - 25,960 - - 59,819
        

Net book value       

        

At 31 July 2011 125,412 583 5,694 91 4,642 136,422
        

            

At 1 August 2010 123,207 190 6,373 12 4,642 134,424

        

            
 

The main buildings and grounds are freehold, except for the University’s 60 year interest from 18 January 2008 in a Medical Research building 
on the University Hospital of North Staffordshire NHS Trust’s site with a cost of £981,000 and its 99 year interest from 1 February 2003 in the 
Undergraduate Medical School on the University Hospital of North Staffordshire NHS Trust’s site with a cost of £1,650,000. 
 
The transitional rules set out in FRS 15, Tangible Fixed Assets, have been applied in implementing FRS 15.  The land and buildings of Keele 
University Science Park Ltd were revalued in 1997 at £5,010,000 by Heywoods, Chartered Surveyors. The valuation was based on an open 
market capital value at an equivalent yield of 11%. 
 
The land and buildings of the University, excluding off campus houses, were revalued at 31 July 1992 at £64,879,000 by Grimley (International 
Property Advisers). The valuation was based on open market value for the existing use on a Depreciated Replacement Cost basis. 
 
In the Consolidated Accounts the net book value of land and buildings based on historic cost would be £110,832,000 (2010: £105,126,000), the 
depreciation charge for the year being £2,589,000 (2010: £2,281,000).  In the University’s Accounts the net book value of land and buildings 
based on historic cost would be £94,515,000 (2010: £91,191,000), the depreciation charge for the year being £2,406,000 (2010: £2,194,000). 
 
The value of land in the consolidated accounts, not depreciated, included with main buildings and grounds is £5,467,000 (2010: £5,469,000). 
 
On 22 February 1999 the University and Pochin plc formed a joint venture company, Keele Park Developments Ltd, to provide a new access 
road and innovation centre buildings, being the first phase of the continuing development of the science park provision within the University 
campus. The University has a 25% non-participating shareholding in the joint venture company and has granted to it a 135-year lease on seven 
acres of land for the development. As granting of this lease has no material effect on the financial statements, the land remains stated at net 
book value within fixed assets. 
 
In July 2007, the University leased its student accommodation to Keele Residential Funding plc for a period of 40 years.  The assets leased 
remain on the balance sheet of the University and the premiums received are released over the life of the lease. The updated net book value on 
the University fixed asset register as at 31 July 2011 of the assets leased is £45,147,000 (2010: £43,690,000).   
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 
11  Tangible Assets (continued) 

 
Heritage Assets 
 
The University has a number of different types of heritage assets, some of which it owns, and some of which are held on loan deposit.  
 
Library: Archives and Special Collections 
 
The University holds a large number of manuscripts, archives and other special collections; these collections are housed in the University 
Library. They are held and maintained principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture.  
 
Collections are acquired by deposit, gift and purchase.  The University is committed to ensuring that these collections are exploited to their 
maximum advantage and made available efficiently and effectively. The University’s collecting policy states that material should conform to at 
least one of the following criteria: 
 
 It fits with the current or future teaching and research profile of the University 
 It is of strategic local interest 
 It supplements an existing collection 
 It is material generated by the University and considered worth preserving. 
 
During the year to 31 July 2009, these assets were professionally valued for insurance purposes by Michael Newman Associates. This valuation 
totalled £3,915,000. Within this, the items that are not owned by the University and are on deposit are valued at a total of £650,000 for insurance 
purposes. A list of the separate collections valued is shown below. 
 
Owned by the University: 
 
Arnold Bennett Papers 
Wilfred Bloor Papers 
Goldendale Iron Company 
T.E. Hulme Archive 
William Jack Collection 
LePlay Collection 
Lord Lindsay Papers 
Local Collection 
Karl Mannheim Papers 
Pape Collection 
Raymond Richards Collection 
Sneyd Family Papers 
Spode Papers 
Warrilow Collection 
Josiah Clement Wedgwood Collection 
Jeavons Collection of 20th Century Slides 
An Illuminated Manuscript 
 
Not owned by the University (on deposit): 
 
Havergal Brian Collection 
Knight & Sons Archive 
Paget Papers 
Tamworth Court Rolls 
 
No additions or disposals have occurred in this or the previous four years. 
 
Other Miscellaneous Artefacts 
 
The University has various miscellaneous artefacts that it owns, mainly situated in Keele Hall and the Library. These are classed as follows: 
 
 Pictures, Drawings and Prints 
 Sculpture 
 Furniture 
 Silver and Plated Ware 
 Porcelain 
 
During the year to 31 July 2009, the above categories of assets were professionally valued for insurance purposes by Michael Newman 
Associates. This valuation totalled £1,377,000.  No additions or disposals have occurred in this or the previous four years.  
 
Raven Mason Pottery Collection 
 
This important ceramic collection was created by brothers Ronald William and John Mason Raven; it is housed in Keele Hall within the 
University.  In November 2001, the collection was professionally valued for insurance purposes, and the valuation totalled £188,000. However, 
the collection is not owned by the University, and is the property of the Raven Mason Trust.  Therefore, no value has been ascribed to this 
Collection in these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

12  Fixed Asset Investments Consolidated University 

   2011 2010 2011 2010

   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

       

Keele Residential Fund at cost less impairment  55,379 53,746 55,379 53,746
       

Investment in wholly owned subsidiary companies at cost  - - 475 475
       
Investment in spin out companies at cost less impairment  - - - -
   
Other investments  50 50 50 50
      

Equities  33 33 33 33
       

   55,462 53,829 55,937 54,304
       

           
Investment in joint venture company at cost  (242) - - -
       

           
       

 
The overall market value provided by the investment managers of the Keele Residential Fund investment as at 31 July 2011 is higher than the 
cost value stated above.  During the year the University has impaired investments by £3,813,000. This is shown in note 7.  The impairment of 
the fund has provided for losses which are expected to crystallise in the near future.   

 
Investments in subsidiary companies, equities and other investments are stated at cost less amounts written off.   
 
The University had the following investments in wholly owned subsidiary companies as at 31 July 2011: 
             
Name of Investment         Class of share Proportion held Nature of business 
        by University 
 
Keele University Science and Business Park Ltd Ordinary                    100%            Land development and associated activity 
 
Keele University Science Park Ltd  Ordinary                    100%            Operation and development of a science and 
      business park 
 
Keele Facilities Management Ltd  Ordinary                    100%            Provision of consultancy services plus the  
      delivery of facilities management services for 
       associated and external customers        
 
Keele Hotels Ltd   Ordinary          100% Development and operation of hotel (dormant in  
      period to 31 July 2011) 
 
Staffordshire Science Park Ltd                  Ordinary          100% Dormant company 
 
Staffordshire Science and Business Park Ltd   Ordinary          100% Dormant company 
 
Cheshire East Science Park Ltd                  Ordinary          100% Dormant company 

 
All of the above companies are registered in England and Wales. 
 
 
The University had the following investment in a joint venture company as at 31 July 2011: 
             
Name of Investment         Class of share Proportion held Nature of business 
        by University 
 
Keele Seddon Ltd    Ordinary                     50%            Land development and associated activity 
 
The other 50% of the company is held by Seddon Group Ltd. The company has an accounting reference date of 31 December.  The University 
will account for the joint venture using financial information as at 31 July of each year. 
 
As at 31 July 2011, there are no significant contingent liabilities or capital commitments related to Keele Seddon Ltd. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 
12 Fixed Asset Investments (continued) 

 
The arrangement is treated as a joint venture and is accounted for using the gross equity method, such that 50% of the company’s gross assets 
and liabilities are incorporated into the consolidated balance sheet of the University and 50% of its net income and deficit is reported in the 
University's consolidated income and expenditure account. 

 

  
Year ended 

31 July 2011  
Year ended 

31 July 2010
       

   £'000 £'000
Income and expenditure account      
 

Income - -

 

Deficit before tax (242) -

 

Balance sheet 

 

Current assets 8 231

 

Creditors: amounts due after more than one year (250) (231)
 

Share of net liabilities  (242) -
 

The University had the following investments in spin out companies as at 31 July 2011: 
            Turnover 
Name of Investment       Class of share  No of shares Proportion held by  2011  Nature of  
       purchased University & Group £’000  business 

 
Intelligent Orthopaedics Ltd      10 pence ordinary C             575              18.8% (see below)        55 Production of 

devices for 
fracture 
operations 

 
Sci Site Ltd                       £1 ordinary                90              22.5%                      24 Identifying 
              corroded  

steel within 
concrete by non-
destructive 
means 

 
Prescribing Decision        £1 ordinary               250              25.0%    174 Software to 
Support Limited              assist  
             pharmacist 
              decisions 

 
nanoTherics Ltd      25 pence ordinary              168               4.6% (see below)    123 Gene 

transfection 
technology 

 
The University has a shareholding in Intelligent Orthopaedics Ltd of 18.8% (2010: 23%), but this is split in three equal shares with Staffordshire 
University and the University Hospital of North Staffordshire NHS Trust.  The University holds the shares of its two partners in trust.  The 
reduction in percentage of shares held was due to a rights issue in the year that the University did not take up, which diluted its shareholding. 
 
The University reduced its shareholding in nanoTherics Ltd from 225 to 168, as these shares were transferred to the University of Florida who 
are co-owners of the patent for the technology. Additionally, the reduction in percentage of shares held was due to a rights issue in the year that 
the University did not take up, which diluted its shareholding. 
  
Investments in spin out companies are stated at cost less amounts written off.  Where the University holds 20% or more of the share capital of 
the spin out companies, the University does not account for these investments as associates but holds them as simple investments in line with 
those in which it has a less than 20% shareholding.  This is on the basis that the University merely holds the shares as an investment, and does 
not seek to exercise any significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the spin out companies.  
 
Other Investments 
 
The University holds 25 Ordinary “A” shares of Keele Park Developments Ltd, with the remaining 75 Ordinary “B” shares owned by Pochin Plc.  
The University does not account for this investment as an associate, but holds it as a simple investment in line with those in which it has a less 
than 20% shareholding.  This is on the basis that the University is unable to exercise any significant influence over the operating and financial 
policies of the company.  

 
The University is a founder member of Net North West Ltd, which is a company limited by guarantee.  The company is a consortium of higher 
education institutions in the north west of England which wish to establish improved electronic network connections to support their work in 
teaching, learning, research and commercial applications. 
 
The University also holds 99.7% of the shares in KRF Holdings Ltd but has no Board representation and no voting rights and, on this basis, it 
has not been consolidated into the accounts and is included at cost. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

13  Endowment Asset Investments  Consolidated & University 

   2011 2010

   £'000 £'000
       

At 1 August 2010 887 790

Additions 187 142

Disposals - (4)

Net expenditure for the year (50) (41)
       

At 31 July 2011   1,024 887
       

         

Equities 6 6

Short-term investments 1,018 881
       

Total endowment asset investments 1,024 887
       

         

 
14  Debtors  Consolidated University 

   2011 2010 2011 2010

   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Amounts falling due within one year:      
      

Debtors 3,426 3,450 3,133 3,250

Prepayments and accrued income 3,615 3,028 3,540 2,932

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings - - 355 402
       
   7,041 6,478 7,028 6,584
Amounts falling due after one year:      
       
Prepayments  2,593 2,723 2,593 2,723
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings  - - 4,526 4,503
       

   9,634 9,201 14,147 13,810
       

         

 
The balance in prepayments due after one year relates to deferred costs of the Keele Residential Funding agreement, which are being expended 
over the life of the lease.  The balance in amounts due from subsidiary undertakings after one year relate to loans made by the University to its 
subsidiaries. 

 
15  Current Asset Investments  Consolidated & University 

   2011 2010

   £'000 £'000
       

Current portion of Keele Residential Fund 2,729 5,821

Short term deposits (all maturing in less than one year) 8,508 6,990
 

  11,237 12,811
    

       

 
Deposits are held with banks and building societies operating in the London market and licensed by the Financial Services Authority with more 
than 24 hours maturity at the balance sheet date. The interest rates for these deposits are fixed for the duration of the deposit at time of 
placement. 
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16  Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year Consolidated University 
       

   2011 2010 2011 2010

   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
       

Mortgages and unsecured loans 831 831 831 831

Bank overdraft 365 441 365 441

Payments received on account 1,512 1,642 1,512 1,642

Other creditors 3,535 2,923 3,497 2,862

Social security and other taxation payable 1,418 1,484 1,418 1,484

Accruals and deferred income 38,468 37,415 37,803 36,847

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings - - 388 300

Current portion of Keele Residential Funding premium (Note 17) 2,842 2,842 2,842 2,842
       

   48,971 47,578 48,656 47,249
   
       

 
17  Creditors : Amounts Falling Due After More Than One Year  Consolidated University 

        

     2011 2010 2011 2010

     £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
         

Mortgages and unsecured loans  14,338 15,169 14,338 15,169

Long-term portion of Keele Residential Funding premium (see below)  71,633 74,475 71,633 74,475

Other long-term creditors   9,693 9,693 200 200
         

     95,664 99,337 86,171 89,844
         

             
The Keele Residential Funding premium represents the premiums received on the lease of student accommodation to Keele Residential Funding 
plc.  The premiums are being released on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease agreements. 

      Consolidated & University 
         

Analysis of mortgages and unsecured loans:   2011 2010

    £'000 £'000

The debt can be analysed as falling due:       

 In one year or less, or on demand   831 831

 Between one and two years   831 831

 Between two and five years   2,494 2,494

 In five years or more   11,013 11,844
         

     15,169 16,000
     

         

 
In the year ended 31 July 2005, the University secured a loan facility of £18m, which comprised a £13m term loan and a £5m revolving credit facility.  
The term loan is repayable in full after 25 years from the date of the first draw down.  Of this facility, there is a £2m term loan with interest fixed at a 
rate of 9.19% for the life of the loan.  The remaining £11m balance of the term loan facility has an interest rate based on LIBOR hedged at 5.22%, 
plus an agreed margin.  The capital balance repayable for the term loan as at 31 July 2011 is £10,663k. 
 
The revolving credit facility of £5m was turned into a term loan over 20 years from 12 October 2009. This facility has a variable interest rate based 
on LIBOR plus an agreed margin. The capital balance repayable as at 31 July 2011 is £4,506k. 
 
During the year to 31 July 2010, the University secured a further loan facility of £20m. Of this facility, £15m has an interest rate based initially on 
LIBOR plus an agreed margin. This proportion of the facility has been hedged from 22 April 2013, after which date, the University will pay a fixed 
rate of 6.885%. The remaining £5m balance of the term loan facility has an interest rate based on LIBOR plus an agreed margin. The facility has an 
initial draw down period of 3 years, and is repayable in full by January 2035, a term of 25 years from the date that the agreement was signed.  The 
facility was not utilised during the year, therefore the capital balance repayable as at 31 July 2011 is £nil.  
 
In addition, a supplementary facility has been agreed for a further amount up to a maximum of £7.5m, to fund a specific capital project. Within 18 
months of the agreement date of 23 July 2010, the University must inform the bank of the amount required to be drawn down from the facility, and 
agree a fixed interest rate for a minimum proportion of 75% of the loan amount. There is also an agreed margin payable on the facility. The facility 
was not utilised during the year, therefore the capital balance repayable as at 31 July 2011 is £nil. 
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18  Provisions for Liabilities       

 Consolidated University
        

 Deferred Taxation Severances Total Deferred Taxation Severances Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

  

At 1 August 2010 19 161 180 - 161 161

Recognised in the year -  (161) (161) - (161) (161)

Additions 12 358 370 - 358 358
        

At 31 July 2011 31 358 389 - 358 358
        

        

 
Severances 

 
The severance provision relates to payments to staff which had been agreed but not paid at the year end.   
 
Deferred Taxation 
 
The deferred taxation provision relates to timing differences in the subsidiary accounts.  The liabilities are not expected to crystallise. 
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19  Deferred Capital Grants        

 Consolidated University

        

 Funding Other Heritage Total Funding Other Heritage Total

 Council Grants & Assets Council Grants & Assets

  Benefactions Benefactions 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 August 2010     
 

    

 Buildings 33,530 4,724 - 38,254 32,802 4,683 - 37,485

 Equipment 2,525 270 - 2,795 2,525 270 - 2,795

 Heritage assets - - 4,642 4,642 - - 4,642 4,642

          

Total 36,055 4,994 4,642 45,691 35,327 4,953 4,642 44,922
           
                
Cash Received          

 Buildings 3,658 - - 3,658 1,163 - - 1,163

 Equipment 816 93 - 909 816 93 - 909
          

Total 4,474 93 - 4,567 1,979 93 - 2,072
          
          

Disposals          

 Buildings - - - - - - - -

 Equipment 1 - - 1 1 - - 1
          

Total 1 - - 1 1 - - 1
          
                

Released to Income and Expenditure    
 

    

 Buildings 1,018 101 - 1,119 1,018 98 - 1,116

 Equipment 686 147 - 833 686 147 - 833

          

Total 1,704 248 - 1,952 1,704 245 - 1,949
          
                

At 31 July 2011          

 Buildings 36,170 4,623 - 40,793 32,947 4,585 - 37,532

 Equipment 2,654 216 - 2,870 2,654 216 - 2,870

 Heritage assets - - 4,642 4,642 - - 4,642 4,642

     
 

    

Total 38,824 4,839 4,642 48,305 35,601 4,801 4,642 45,044
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20  Endowments (Consolidated  & University)      

   
Unrestricted

Permanent
Restricted

Expendable
Restricted 

Permanent 
Restricted 

Total Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
    

Capital value  - 11 136 147 147

Accumulated income - 649 91 740 740

At 1 August 2010  - 660 227 887 887
  

Net additions  - 187 - 187 187
Income for year - 6 1 7 7
Expenditure for the year  - (55) (2) (57) (57)
Reclassification  - 49 (49) - -

     
    
At 31 July 2011  - 847 177 1,024 1,024

         
Represented by:    
Capital value  - 49 97 146 146
Accumulated income  - 798 80 878 878

    
  - 847 177 1,024 1,024

       
There are no endowments or capital balances in deficit as at 31 July 2011 

 

21  Revaluation Reserve  Consolidated University 
      

  2011 2010 2011 2010

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
      

At 1 August 2010    

 Land and Buildings  33,321 34,141 31,653 32,454
 Investments  - - - -
          
      

Contributions to depreciation  749 725 727 706
Release to income and expenditure account on disposal of 
fixed assets  37 95 37 95

Revaluation of fixed asset investments in year  (195) - (195) -
      
  591 820 569 801
      
At 31 July 2011    
 Land and Buildings  32,535 33,321 30,889 31,653
 Investments  195 - 195 -
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

22  Income and Expenditure Account  Consolidated University 
        

    2011 2010 2011 2010
      

    £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
       

Surplus after depreciation of assets at    

valuation, taxation and exceptional items 3,290 2,801 3,723 2,937

Release from revaluation reserve 749 725 727 706

Release from revaluation reserve on disposal of assets 37 95 37 95
Surplus for the year transferred from accumulated income in endowment 
funds 50 45 50 45
        

Historical cost surplus after taxation 4,126 3,666 4,537 3,783
      

Actuarial loss in respect of pension scheme (140) (3,295) (140) (3,295)

   

Balance at 1 August 2010 (12,953) (13,324) (11,405) (11,893)
      

Balance at 31 July 2011 (8,967) (12,953) (7,008) (11,405)
      

            
 

 
23 Amounts Disbursed as Agent - Access Funds (Consolidated and University) 2010/11 2009/10

   £'000 £'000
       

Grant income   139 103
       

          

Payments:    
       
Undergraduate support    130 99

Postgraduate support    9 4
      
     139 103
       

       
 
Funding Council Grants are available solely for students, the University acts only as a paying agent. The grants and related disbursements are 
therefore excluded from the income and expenditure account. 
 
24  Amounts Disbursed as Agent - Training and Development Agency for Schools (“TDA”) 2010/11 2009/10

   £'000 £'000
       

Grant income   2,229 2,534
       

          

Grant payments   2,229 2,534
       

       
The grant income received from the TDA is available solely for the students, the University acts only as a paying agent.  The grant income and 
related payments to the students are therefore excluded from the income and expenditure account.  
       
In addition to the above, during 2010/11 the University:  

 received £nil (2010: £7,000) in respect of Black and Minority Ethnic Recruitment and Retention Funding.  Of this, £nil (2010: £8,000) 
was expended during the year; and 

 received £126,000 (2010: £181,000) in respect of Student Associate Scheme Funding.  Of this, £126,000 (2010: £181,000) was 
expended during the year. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 
25  Obligations under the Financial Restructuring Agreements 
 
Under the agreements for the lease of student accommodation to Keele Residential Funding plc, the University has a contractual duty to maintain 
and refurbish the student halls of residence.  Investments of £31,825,000 have been set aside as at 31 July 2011 to enable the University to meet its 
future obligations in respect of the agreed refurbishment programme.  These investments are shown as part of the Keele Residential Funds.  The 
University is required to ensure funds are maintained at a level to ensure compliance with agreed maintenance programmes and failure to comply 
may result in moneys being withheld from annual University rent payments due from Keele Residential Funding plc. 
 

26  Contingent Liabilities  Consolidated & University 
       

    2011 2010

    £'000 £'000
     

Repurchase of houses sold to staff  11,576 12,282

Interest guarantee in respect of Keele Park Developments Ltd  1,000 1,000
   

    12,576 13,282
   

         

 
27  Capital Commitments Consolidated University 

       

   2011 2010 2011 2010

   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
     

Commitments contracted at 31 July 1,442 1,278 703 869
    

           
 

 
28  Analysis of Changes in Consolidated Financing During the Year    Mortgages

          & Loans

    £'000

       

Balance at 1 August 2009   14,147
       

New loans   5,000
Capital repayments      (3,147)
       

Balance at 31 July 2010   16,000

   
New loans   -

Capital repayments   (831)
       

Balance at 31 July 2011   15,169
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

29  Reconciliation of Consolidated Operating Surplus    2011 2010
      to Net Cash From Operating Activities    

   £'000 £'000
       

Surplus before tax    3,544 1,842

Depreciation (Note 11)   5,156 4,884

Deferred capital grants released to income (Note 19)   (1,952) (1,913)

Deferred premium released to income   (2,842) (2,842)

Investment income and endowments   (1,760) (1,752)

(Profit) / loss on sale of fixed assets   (255) 178

Impairment of fixed asset investments   3,813 2,135

Gain on fixed asset investments   (1,759) (1,378)

Loss on fixed asset investments   174 52

Interest payable (Note 8)   960 1,059

Pension cost less contributions payable   62 57

Increase in stocks   (11) (14)

Increase in debtors   (458) (127)

Increase in creditors   1,407 2,435

Increase / (decrease) in provisions    197 (395)

Endowment transfer   50 45
       

Net cash inflow from operating activities   6,326 4,266
       

         

 
30  Analysis of Changes in Net Debt At Cash At

   1 Aug 10 Flows 31 Jul 11

   £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash at bank and in hand     
       

 Cash and bank 2,123 (478) 1,645

 Bank overdraft (441) 76 (365)
       

   1,682 (402) 1,280

Short-term deposits     
       

 Endowment assets 881 137 1,018

 Other 12,811 (1,574) 11,237

Debt due within one year (831) - (831)

Debt due after one year (15,169) 831 (14,338)
       

   (626) (1,008) (1,634)
       

           

 
31  Returns on Investments and Servicing of Finance   2011 2010

     £'000 £'000
       

Income from endowments (Note 20)   7 9

Income from investments   796 853

Interest paid   (954) (1,055)
       

     (151) (193)
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 
32  Capital Expenditure and Financial Investment   2011 2010

   £'000 £'000
     

Tangible assets acquired    (9,861) (8,654)

Receipts from sales of fixed assets   660 706

Deferred capital grants received (Note 19)   4,565 5,023

Receipts from fixed asset investments    - 4,385

Movement between fixed asset and current asset investments   (2,734) -

Net endowments received (Note 20)   187 142
     

   (7,183) 1,602
     

       

 
33  Pension Schemes     

The two principal pension schemes for University staff are the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS) and the Keele Superannuation 
Scheme (KSS). Both are defined benefit schemes. 
       

Total pension cost for the year   2010/11  2009/10

     £'000 £'000
       

  USS: contributions paid   6,404 6,425

  KSS: charge to the income and expenditure account in staff costs   559 466

  Others: contributions paid   445 449
       
  Total pension cost for year (charged to staff costs in the income and expenditure account as per Note 6)   7,408 7,340
      
 
Universities Superannuation Scheme (“USS”) 
 
The University participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme, a defined benefit scheme which is contracted out of the State Second Pension 
(S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate fund administered by the trustee, Universities Superannuation Scheme Ltd. 
 
The appointment of directors to the board of the trustee is determined by the trustee company’s Articles of Association. Four of the directors are 
appointed by Universities UK; three are appointed by the University and College Union, of whom at least one must be a USS pensioner member; one is 
appointed by the Higher Education Funding Councils; and a minimum of two and a maximum of four are co-opted directors appointed by the Board. 
Under the scheme trust deed and rules, the employer contribution rate is determined by the trustee, acting on actuarial advice. 
 
Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not hypothecated to individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is 
set.  The University is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 17 “Retirement benefits”, 
accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the income and expenditure account represents 
the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the accounting period. 
 
The latest triennial actuarial valuation of the scheme was at 31 March 2008. This was the first valuation for USS under the new scheme-specific funding 
regime introduced by the Pensions Act 2004, which requires schemes to adopt a statutory funding objective, which is to have sufficient and appropriate 
assets to cover their technical provisions.  The actuary also carries out regular reviews of the funding level. In particular, he carries out a review of the 
funding level each year between triennial valuations and details of his estimate of the funding level at 31 March 2011 are also included in this note. 
 
The triennial valuation was carried out using the projected unit method. The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the result of the 
valuation are those relating to the rate of return on investments (i.e. the valuation rate of interest), the rates of increase in salary and pensions and the 
assumed rates of mortality. The financial assumptions were derived from market yields prevailing at the valuation date. An “inflation risk premium” 
adjustment was also included by deducting 0.3% from the market-implied inflation on account of the historically high level of inflation implied by 
government bonds, (particularly when compared to the Bank of England’s target of 2% for CPI which corresponds broadly to 2.75% for RPI per annum.) 
 
To calculate the technical provisions, it was assumed that the valuation rate of interest would be 6.4% per annum (which includes an additional 
assumed investment return over gilts of 2% per annum), salary increases would be 4.3% per annum (plus an additional allowance for increases in 
salaries due to age and promotion reflecting historic scheme experience, with a further cautionary reserve on top for past service liabilities) and 
pensions would increase by 3.3% per annum.  
 
Standard mortality tables were used as follows: 
 
Male members’ mortality PA92 MC YoB tables - rated down 1 year 
 
Female members’ mortality PA92 MC YoB tables – No age rating 
 
Use of these mortality tables reasonably reflects the actual USS experience but also provides an element of conservatism to allow for further 
improvements in mortality rates. The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65 are: 
 
Males / (Females) currently aged 65   22.8 / (24.8) years 
 
Males / (Females) currently aged 45   24.0 / (25.9) years 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 
33  Pension Schemes (continued) 
 
At the valuation date the value of assets of the scheme was £28,842.6 million and the value of the scheme’s technical provisions was £28,135.3 million 
indicating a surplus of £707.3 million. The assets therefore were sufficient to cover 103% of the benefits which had accrued to members after allowing 
for expected future increases in earnings. 
 
The actuary also valued the scheme on a number of other bases as at the valuation date. On the scheme’s historic gilts basis, using a valuation rate of 
interest in respect of past service liabilities of 4.4% per annum (the expected return on gilts) the funding level was approximately 71%.  Under the 
Pensions Protection Fund regulations introduced by the Pensions Act 2004 the scheme was 107% funded; on a buy-out basis (i.e. assuming the 
scheme had discontinued on the valuation date) the assets would have been approximately 79% of the amount necessary to secure all the USS 
benefits with an insurance company; and using the FRS 17 formula as if USS was a single employer scheme, using an AA bond discount rate of 6.5% 
per annum based on spot yields, the actuary estimated that the funding level as at 31 March 2008 was 104%. 
 
The technical provisions relate essentially to the past service liabilities and funding levels, but it is also necessary to assess the ongoing cost of newly 
accruing benefits.  The cost of future accrual was calculated using the same assumptions as those used to calculate the technical provisions except that 
the valuation rate of interest assumed asset outperformance over gilts of 1.7% per annum (compared to 2.0% per annum for the technical provisions) 
giving a discount rate of 6.1% per annum; also the allowance for promotional salary increases was not as high.  Analysis has shown very variable levels 
of growth over and above general pay increases in recent years, and the salary growth assumption built into the cost of future accrual is based on more 
stable, historic salary experience.  However, when calculating the past service liabilities of the scheme, a cautionary reserve has been included, in 
addition, on account of the variability mentioned above. 
 
The scheme-wide contribution rate required for future service benefits alone at the date of the valuation was 16.0% of pensionable salaries and the 
trustee company, on the advice of the actuary, increased the institution contribution rate to 16.0% of pensionable salaries from 1 October 2009. 
 
Since 31 March 2008 global investment markets have continued to fluctuate and as at 31 March 2011 the market’s assessment of inflation has 
increased slightly.  The government has also announced a change to the inflation measure used in determining the “Official Pensions Index” from the 
Retail Prices Index to the Consumer Prices Index. The actuary has taken this all into account in his funding level estimates at 31 March 2011 by 
reducing the assumption for pension increases from 3.3% per annum to 2.9% per annum.  The actuary has estimated that the funding level as at 31 
March 2011 under the scheme specific funding regime had fallen from 103% to 98% (a deficit of circa £700 million).  Over the past twelve months, the 
funding level has improved from 91% (as at 31 March 2010) to 98%.  This estimate is based on the funding level at 31 March 2008, adjusted to reflect 
the fund’s actual investment performance over the three years and changes in market conditions (market conditions affect both the valuation rate of 
interest and also the inflation assumption which in turn impacts on the salary and pension increase assumptions).  The next formal valuation is as at 31 
March 2011 and this will incorporate updated assumptions agreed by the trustee company. 
 
With effect from 1 October 2011, new joiners to the scheme will join the new revalued benefits section rather than the existing final salary section.  This 
change will have an impact, expected to be positive, on the future funding levels.  
 
On the FRS 17 basis, using an AA bond discount rate of 5.5% per annum based on spot yields, the actuary estimated that the funding level at 31 March 
2011 was 86%.  An estimate of the funding level measured on a buy-out basis at that date was approximately 54%. 
 
Surpluses or deficits which arise at future valuations may impact on the institution’s future contribution commitment. A deficit may require additional 
funding in the form of higher contribution requirements, where a surplus could, perhaps, be used to similarly reduce contribution requirements.  The 
sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities on a technical provisions basis as at the date of the last triennial 
valuation are set out below: 
 
Assumption Change in assumption Impact on scheme laiblities 
Valuation rate of interest Increase/decrease by 0.5% Increase/decrease by £2.2 billion 
Rate of pension increases Increase/decrease by 0.5% Increase/decrease by £1.5 billion 
Rate of salary growth Increase/decrease by 0.5% Increase/decrease by £0.7 billion 
Rate of mortality More prudent assumption (move to long cohort 

future improvements from the medium cohort 
adopted at the valuation) 

Increase by £1.6 billion 

 
USS is a “last man standing” scheme so that in the event of the insolvency of any of the participating employers in USS, the amount of any pension 
funding shortfall (which cannot otherwise be recovered) in respect of that employer will be spread across the remaining participant employers and 
reflected in the next actuarial valuation of the scheme. 
 
The trustee believes that over the long-term equity investment and investment in selected alternative asset classes will provide superior returns to other 
investment classes. The management structure and targets set are designed to give the fund a major exposure to equities through portfolios that are 
diversified both geographically and by sector. The trustee recognises that it would be theoretically possible to select investments producing income 
flows broadly similar to the estimated liability cash flows. However, in order to meet the long-term funding objective within a level of contributions that it 
considers the employers would be willing to make, the trustee needs to take on a degree of investment risk relative to the liabilities. This taking of 
investment risk seeks to target a greater return than the matching assets would provide whilst maintaining a prudent approach to meeting the fund’s 
liabilities. Before deciding what degree of investment risk to take relative to the liabilities, the trustee receives advice from its internal investment team, 
its investment consultant and the scheme actuary, and considers the views of the employers. The strong positive cash flow of the scheme means that it 
is not necessary to realise investments to meet liabilities. The trustee believes that this, together with the ongoing flow of new entrants into the scheme 
and the strength of covenant of the employers enables it to take a long-term view of its investments. Short-term volatility of returns can be tolerated and 
need not feed through directly to the contribution rate although the trustee is mindful of the desirability of keeping the funding level on the scheme’s 
technical provisions close to or above 100% thereby minimizing the risk of the introduction of deficit contributions. The actuary has confirmed that the 
scheme’s cash flow is likely to remain positive for the next ten years or more. 
 
The next formal triennial actuarial valuation is due as at 31 March 2011, and will incorporate allowance for scheme benefit changes and any changes 
the trustee makes to the underlying actuarial assumptions. The contribution rate will be reviewed as part of each valuation and may be reviewed more 
frequently. 
 
At 31 March 2011, USS had over 142,000 active members and the University had 1,184 active members participating in the scheme. 
 
The total pension cost for the University was £6,404,000 (2010: £6,425,000). This includes £805,000 (2010: £896,000) outstanding contributions at the 
balance sheet date.  The contribution rate payable by the University was16% of pensionable salaries. 
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33  Pension Schemes (continued) 
 
Keele Superannuation Scheme (KSS) 
 
The KSS is a defined benefit scheme in the United Kingdom that pays out pensions at retirement based on service and final pay, with the assets held in 
separate trustee-administered funds. The employer contribution made for the year ended 31 July 2011 was £1,263,000 (2010: £1,238,000).  This 
includes £nil (2010: £nil) outstanding contributions at the balance sheet date. 
 
The latest full actuarial valuation at 1 August 2008 showed an increase in deficit from £5,102,000 as at 1 August 2005 to £7,869,000.  For the year 
ended 31 July 2011, the University has been contributing at a rate of 22.95% and employee contributions were 6.35% of pensionable salaries.  
Additionally, the University also contributed a payment of £568,000 per annum payable monthly.     
 
Application of FRS 17 to KSS 
 
The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of KSS at 1 August 2008 updated to 31 July 2011 by a qualified independent actuary.  
The University has applied FRS 17 and the following disclosures relate to this standard.  The University recognises any gains or losses in each period in 
the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses.   
 
The principal actuarial assumptions used by the actuary at the balance sheet date (expressed as weighted averages) are: 
 

                          At 31 July               At 31 July           
 2011                      2010       

 
Discount rate applied to scheme liabilities       5.30%    5.60%       
Price inflation          3.50%    3.50% 
Future salary increases         3.50%              4.25%                
Rate of increase in pensions in payment and deferred pensions:- 
    Pre 1 August 2001 Service     4.20%               4.10%     
    1 August 2001 to 30 November 2006 Service   3.40%                   3.50%         
             Post 1 December 2006 Service    2.10%                   2.20%         
             
Proportion of employees opting for early retirement Where a member can take all their benefits from 60, it has 

been assumed they retire at 60.  Where a member can take 
some of their benefits from 60, an allowance has been made 
for the extra value of the benefits. 

 
Commutation allowance Members commute                  Members commute 
 25% of their pension                25% of their pension 
 
Mortality – current pensioners 
      Actuarial tables used             PC*A00+1 YoB MC   PC*A00+1 YoB MC    
                   1% Underpin            1% Underpin 
    Male life expectancy at age 65    21.3    21.1 
 
Mortality – future pensioners currently aged 50 
      Actuarial tables used             PC*A00+1 YoB MC    PC*A00+1 YoB MC     
                   1% Underpin             1% Underpin 
    Male life expectancy at age 65    23.0    23.0 
 
 
The assumptions used by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions, which, due to the timescale 
covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice. 
 
KSS Scheme Assets and Liabilities 
 
The fair value of the scheme’s assets, which are not intended to be realised in the short term and may be subject to significant change before they are 
realised, and the present value of the scheme’s liabilities, which are derived from cash flow projections over long periods and thus inherently uncertain, 
were: 
 

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows: 
At 

31 July 2011
At

31 July 2010

     £'000   £'000
         

Present value of funded obligations   (39,049) (37,202)

Fair value of scheme assets    24,072 22,427
         

Deficit in scheme at end of year   (14,977) (14,775)
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

33  Pension Schemes (continued) 
 
The pension scheme assets include no assets from the University’s own financial instruments and do not include any property occupied by, or other 
assets used by, the University. 
 

The amounts recognised in the income and expenditure account are as follows: 2010/11 2009/10

     £'000   £'000
         

Current service cost   559 466

Interest on obligation   2,071 1,996

Expected return on scheme assets   (1,305) (1,167)

Total   1,325 1,295
         
 

 2010/11 2009/10

     £'000   £'000
         

Actual return on scheme assets   1,328 2,788
         

 
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 2010/11 2009/10

       £'000   £'000
          

Opening defined benefit obligation   37,202 31,064

Service cost    559 466

Interest cost    2,071 1,996

Actuarial losses    163 4,916

Contributions paid by scheme members   192 219

Benefits paid    (1,138) (1,459)
          

Closing defined benefit obligation   39,049 37,202
          
           

 
Changes in the fair value of the scheme assets are as follows: 2010/11 2009/10

       £'000   £'000
          

Opening fair value of scheme assets   22,427 19,641

Expected return    1,305 1,167

Actuarial gains / (losses)    23 1,621

Contributions paid by employer    1,263 1,238

Contributions paid by scheme members   192 219

Benefits paid    (1,138) (1,459)
          

Closing fair value of scheme assets   24,072 22,427
          
           

 
The University expects to contribute in the region of £1,200,000 to the scheme in the next year (that is maintaining at least the current level of 
£553,000 deficit contributions, plus 22.95% of salaries). 
 
Where investments are held in bonds and cash, the expected long term rate of return is taken to be the yields generally prevailing on such assets at 
the balance sheet date.  A higher rate of return is expected on equity investments, which is based more on realistic future expectations than on the 
returns that have been available historically.  The overall expected long term rate of return on assets is then the average of these rates taking into 
account the underlying asset portfolio of the pension scheme. 
 
The expected rates of return for each asset class, gross of scheme expenses, were: 
 
     2010/11 2009/10
             

Equities / Return Seeking Funds  7.70% 8.00%

Corporate Bonds  5.30% 4.80%

Gilts and cash  3.90% 4.30%
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

33  Pension Schemes (continued) 
 
The major categories of scheme assets as a percentage of total scheme assets were as follows: 
 
     2010/11 2009/10
             

Equities  - 60.00%

Return Seeking Funds  60.10% -

Corporate Bonds  39.70% 21.40%

Gilts and cash  0.20% 18.60%
 
Amounts for the current and previous four periods are as follows: 
 
      31 July 2011 31 July 2010 31 July 2009 31 July 2008 31 July 2007
        £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

  

Defined benefit obligation  39,049 37,202 31,064 29,206 28,925

Scheme assets  (24,072) (22,427) (19,641) (20,860) (22,342)
  
Deficit  14,977 14,775 11,423 8,346 6,583
  

  
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities (478) - (3,194) - -

 

  
Experience adjustments on scheme assets    23 1,621 (2,264) (3,251) 359
             

     

Analysis of amount recognised in the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses (STRGL): 
 

Period to     31 
July 2011

Cumulative 
amount to 

31 July 2011
             £'000   £'000

  

Total actuarial loss recognised in STRGL (140) (13,001)
             
  
34  Related Party Transactions 
 
The University holds shares in Keele Park Developments Ltd (“KPD”).  The University has entered into a lease with this company, enabling KPD to 
develop the land for commercial purposes.  The University and a subsidiary company also provide facilities management services.  During the year, 
the group received £515,000 (2010: £588,000) from KPD in sales income and paid £12,000 (2010: £11,000) in expenditure.  As at 31 July 2011, 
£24,000 was owed to the group by KPD (2010: £42,000), and £nil (2010: £nil) was owed by the group to KPD.   
 
Additionally, in the year the University made a short-term loan to KPD of £185,000 (2010: £194,000), and as at 31 July 2011 there was an amount 
owed to the group from KPD of £486,000 (2010: £301,000). 
 
The University holds shares in a joint venture company, Keele Seddon Ltd (“KSD”).  The University and its joint venture partner are currently equally 
funding the development of KSD.  In the year, the University did not provide any additional loan funding to the company (2010: £250,000), and as at 
31 July 2011 there was an amount owed to the group from KSD of £250,000 (2010: £250,000). 
 
Spin out companies 
 
During the year, the University had the following transactions with spin out companies: 
 
Company   Purchases (£) Amounts owing at year end (£)  Sales (£)  Amounts owed at year end (£)  
 
Intelligent Orthopaedics Ltd   Nil               Nil           Nil             Nil 
 
nanoTherics Ltd              910                                             Nil               6,187                    Nil  
 
Prescribing Decision Support Ltd  Nil               Nil     18,142                           121 
 
Sci Site Ltd    Nil               Nil       2,848                            Nil  
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS – continued 
 

34  Related Party Transactions (continued) 
 
Payment for services provided to the HEI by trustees 
 
Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the Council, being drawn from local public and private sector organisations, it is 
inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of the Council may have an interest.  All transactions involving 
organisations in which a member of Council may have an interest are conducted at arms length and in accordance with the University’s Financial 
Regulations and usual procurement procedures. 
 
There were no payments for services provided by a trustee in the year (2010 – £nil).  One of the trustees is a partner in a legal firm, which provided 
services to the University in the year, of which they had no involvement.  
 
Transactions with Keele University Student Union (“KUSU”) and Keele Postgraduate Association (“KPA”) 
 
The President of KUSU and the Sabbatical Officer of the KPA are Council members during their term of office.  As such they are a trustee of the 
University, and transcations are required to be disclosed between the University and the two bodies. 
 
During the year, grants were awarded to KUSU of £627,000 (2010 - £569,000) and to the KPA of £5,000 (2010 - £5,000).  At the year end, £nil (2010 - 
£75,000 in debtors due to prepayment of grant) was on the balance sheet for KUSU and £nil (2010 - £nil) for the KPA. 
 
During the year, no sales (2010 - £nil) were made to either KUSU or the KPA and there was no related debtor on the balance sheet.  During the year, 
£133,000 (2010 - £195,000) was purchased from KUSU and there was a trade creditor balance of £3,000 (2010 - £2,000).  For the KPA, the University 
purchased items from them for £7,000 (2010 - £6,000) and had a trade creditor balance of £nil (2010 - £nil) 
 
Related “Paragraph W” Charities 
 
The University administers certain exempt charitable funds for and on behalf of other exempt charities that fall within paragraph (w) of Schedule 2 of the 
Charities Act 1993 ('paragraph (w) charities').   
 
Of these funds, four are accounted for as part of the University endowment funds and are for sundry activities, and none had income in the year over 
£100,000. 
  

   
Brought forward 
at 1 August 2010

Additions and 
transfers Income Expenditure 

Carry forward at 
31 July 2011

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
   

Endowment linked (paragraph (w)) charities  171 1 2 (1) 173
   

        
 
Additionally, the University incorporates the Keele Concert Society into its financial statements, which is regarded as a paragraph w charity. 
 

   
Brought forward 
at 1 August 2010

Additions and 
transfers Income Expenditure 

Carry forward at 
31 July 2011

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
   

Keele Concert Society  22 - 70 (70) 22
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